American University in Cairo AUC Knowledge Fountain

Theses and Dissertations

Student Research

Winter 1-31-2022

Project Leanness Score: A Machine Learning Approach

Julia Said The American University in Cairo AUC, juliasaid@aucegypt.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://fount.aucegypt.edu/etds

Part of the Construction Engineering and Management Commons

Recommended Citation

APA Citation

Said, J. (2022). *Project Leanness Score: A Machine Learning Approach* [Master's Thesis, the American University in Cairo]. AUC Knowledge Fountain.

https://fount.aucegypt.edu/etds/1888

MLA Citation

Said, Julia. *Project Leanness Score: A Machine Learning Approach*. 2022. American University in Cairo, Master's Thesis. *AUC Knowledge Fountain*. https://fount.aucegypt.edu/etds/1888

This Master's Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Research at AUC Knowledge Fountain. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of AUC Knowledge Fountain. For more information, please contact thesisadmin@aucegypt.edu.



Project Leanness Score: A Machine Learning Approach

A Thesis Submitted to The Department of Construction Engineering

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Construction Management

> By: Julia Joseph Said

Under the Supervision of **Dr. Ibrahim Abotaleb** Assistant Professor

Department of Construction Engineering The American University in Cairo

Fall 2021

Dedication

This thesis, along with everything else I do, is dedicated to my late grandparents Roushdy Demian and Nawal George. You are my guardian angels in heaven, I hope I am making you proud.

Acknowledgement

I am very thankful and grateful to my thesis advisor Dr. Ibrahim Abotaleb who has been a constant source of support throughout my thesis journey. His continuous guidance and encouragement greatly influenced my research and allowed me to achieve what I have today. This thesis would not be possible if it was not for him.

I would also like to thank Dr. Islam El-adaway - Hurst-McCarthy Professor, Department of Civil, Architectural and Environmental Engineering (CArE) and Department of Engineering Management and Systems Engineering (EMSE) at Missouri University of Science and Technology (Missouri S&T) and Founding Director of the Missouri Consortium for Construction Innovation (MO-CCI) – for his generosity and kindness in providing assistance in gathering the US expert-based data. His input to this thesis was extremely valuable and for that I am very grateful.

I would like to acknowledge Dr. Refaat Abdelrazek, Dr. Khaled Nassar and Dr. Ossama Hosny for having served in my examination committee. Their input on the thesis was very insightful and their comments and questions were valuable. I would like to thank them for their time and effort.

I am really thankful to the industry professionals who participated in the surveys used for the purpose of this research. Their input is what made this research possible, thank you to everyone who invested their time in answering the surveys.

I would like to express my utmost gratitude to my mentor, leader and role model Eng. Ahmed Mubarak, who has been an immense source of support throughout my academic and professional life. I am indebted to your kindness and cannot thank you enough for all that you do for me.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my family and friends. Thank you to my mother, father and sister who provided me with endless support, love and encouragement from day one. I wouldn't have achieved anything if it was not for them. Thank you to my friends who provided me with love, encouragement and a shoulder to lean on in stressful days. Also thank you to friends and family who helped in proof reading and editing my thesis. I would not be where I am today if it was not for you.

Abstract

The construction industry is known to have several inadequacies in resource utilization leading to cost and schedule overruns. One of the popular recent methods that attempts to eliminate these inadequacies is lean construction principles, techniques and tools. Lean construction is a philosophy, backed with principles and tools, aiming at maximizing value, eliminating waste, optimizing efficiency, and seeking continuous improvement. Lean construction techniques (such as pull planning, just-in-time delivery, fail safe for quality, etc.) are widely researched and well developed. However, their implementation in construction sites is tricky as their success depends on several other factors such as the level of trust, the use of supporting technologies, and the resistance to cultural change. In other words, just by implementing lean construction tools does not guarantee reduction in cost and time overruns. There is a gap when it comes to identifying the factors that support the success/failure of implementing lean construction tools, and quantifying the impact of those factors to the actual performance of construction projects.

The goal of this research is to develop and benchmark a scoring system that utilizes lean principles to evaluate the "leanness" of construction projects and predict their performance. To achieve such goal, the methodology of the research follows a series of six steps. First is identifying the key factors that influence the "leanness" of construction projects. Second, determining the significance and relative importance of the identified factors through an expert-based survey. Third, developing a novel leanness score using the established relative importance of the factors. Fourth, benchmarking the leanness score representing the industry's performance through collecting extensive project data from 30 construction projects. Fifth, training and validating models using machine learning algorithms such as regression, decision trees, and artificial neural networks to predict the schedule and budget performance of construction projects using the factors of the leanness score. Lastly, developing a user-friendly tool that enables companies to easily calculate the leanness score of their projects, compare it to the benchmarks, and predict their schedule and cost performance.

The outcomes of this research fill the existing gap since it aims to develop a leanness index and link it to project performance. Moreover, it presents a detailed level of performance assessment through breaking down the leanness score and indicating areas of strength and weakness in the project. Also, the developed benchmarking scale enables companies to compare their level of leanness to that of other companies in the industry. In addition, the developed multiclass classification neural networks model can predict and categorize project schedule and budget performance with an accuracy of 96% and 94% respectively. With this, companies will be able to benchmark the performance of their projects, pinpoint the areas of strengths and weaknesses with respect to the benchmarks, and take necessary actions to meet industry practices. Thus, improving the overall quality of construction projects, decreasing overruns.

Table of Contents

Chapter	1. Introduction	1					
1.1	Background Information	1					
1.2	Research Goal, Objectives, and Merits						
1.3	1.3 Thesis Organization and Structure						
Chapter	2. Literature Review	5					
2.1	Moving from Lean Production to Lean Construction	5					
2.2	Lean Construction Techniques and Tools	8					
	2.2.1. Last Planner System (LPS)	8					
	2.2.2. Daily Huddle Meetings	9					
	2.2.3. Increased Visualization	9					
	2.2.4. Off-site Fabrication	10					
	2.2.5. 5S	10					
	2.2.6. Fail Safe for Quality and Safety	11					
	2.2.7. Root Cause Analysis	11					
	2.2.8. First Run Studies	11					
	2.2.9. Just In Time (JIT)	12					
2.3	Effectiveness of Lean Construction Techniques	12					
	2.3.1. Benefits of implementing lean construction	14					
	2.3.2. Last Planner System Challenges and Proposed Implementation Strategies in Egypt	15					
2.4	Developing Scoring Indices	19					
	2.4.1. Scoring indices evaluating construction projects	19					
	2.4.2. Lean Construction Rating System	21					
2.5	Problem Statement	23					
Chapter	3. Research Methodology	25					
3.1	Identification of Factors Defining a Lean Construction Project	25					
3.2	Determining the Relative Importance of Factors	26					
3.3	Developing Project Leanness Score	26					
3.4	Benchmarking the Performance Score	26					
3.5	Developing Performance Prediction Model	27					
	3.5.1. Background About Machine Learning techniques	27					
	3.5.2. Previous Use of Machine Learning in the Construction Industry	31					
	3.5.3. Application	32					
3.6	Validating the Prediction Model	32					
3.7	Developing a User-friendly Tool	32					
Chapter	4. Development of the Project Leanness Score	34					

	4.1	Identification of Factors Defining a Lean Construction Project			
	4.2	Determining the Relative Importance of Factors	38		
	4.3	Developing Project Leanness Score	46		
4.3.1.		Example on Calculating Project Leanness Score for a Hypothetical Project	54		
	4.4	Data Collection – Project-Based Survey	57		
	4.5	Benchmarking the Performance Score	60		
С	hapter 5	5. Developing Performance Prediction Model	63		
	5.1	Descriptive Statistics	63		
	5.2	Machine Learning Algorithms	65		
		5.2.1. Numerical Analysis	65		
		5.2.1.1. Linear Regression	65		
		5.2.1.2. Non-linear Regression	69		
		5.2.1.3. Numerical Neural Networks	74		
		5.2.2. Categorical Analysis	76		
		5.2.2.1. Decision Trees	78		
		5.2.2.2. Multiclass Classification Neural Networks	82		
		5.2.3. Comparison	93		
С	hapter 6	5. Developing a User-friendly Tool	94		
С	hapter 7	7. Conclusion	99		
	7.1	Summary and Conclusion	99		
	7.2	Research Limitations and Recommendations for Future Research	102		
R	eference	es	103		

Appendix A: Decision Trees

List of figures:

Figure 1: The sequence of Last Planner Process (Salem et al. 2005)	9
Figure 2: Rapid LC-Quality Rating Model (Hofacker et al. 2008)	.22
Figure 3: Quality rating scale (Hofacker et al. 2008)	.23
Figure 4: Sequence of methodology	.25
Figure 5: Linear regression equation (Schneider et al. 2010)	. 29
Figure 6: Decision tree structure (Magnimetrics, 2021)	. 29
Figure 7: Development cycle of a neural network (Moselhi et al. 1991)	. 30
Figure 8: Category of Respondents distribution for American experts	. 39
Figure 9: Category of Respondents distribution for Egyptian experts	. 39
Figure 10: Box Plot demonstrating variation in years of experience	.41
Figure 11: Ranked categories comparison based on percentage distribution	.45
Figure 12: Project leanness score showing overall frequency of implementing lean factors	.49
Figure 13: Distribution of project types	. 58
Figure 14: Company role in project	. 58
Figure 15: Venn diagrams demonstrating the projects' status	. 59
Figure 16: Box plot showing projects' category and total scores	.60
Figure 17: Behavioral Category leanness Benchmarking scale	.61
Figure 18: Communication Category leanness Benchmarking scale	.61
Figure 19: Team Category leanness Benchmarking Scale	.61
Figure 20: Managerial Category leanness Benchmarking Scale	. 62
Figure 21: Technological Category leanness Benchmarking Scale	. 62
Figure 22: Contractual Category leanness Benchmarking Scale	. 62
Figure 23: Project Leanness Benchmarking Scale	. 62
Figure 24: Relationship between total score and schedule variance	.64
Figure 25: Relationship between total score and budget variance	. 65
Figure 26: Residuals of non-linear regression predicting change in project duration	.71
Figure 27: Residuals of non-linear regression predicting change in project budget	.73
Figure 28: Numerical neural network predicting project duration	.74
Figure 29: Numerical neural network predicting project budget	.74
Figure 30: Data distribution based on schedule variance	.76
Figure 31: Data distribution based on budget variance	.77
Figure 32: Neural networks architecture (Williams, 1994)	. 82
Figure 33: Information flow through a multiclass neural network	. 83
Figure 34: R code predicting schedule performance	. 85
Figure 35: Multiclass neural network predicting schedule performance	.86
Figure 36: Schedule performance prediction for validation dataset	. 88
Figure 37: R Code predicting budget performance	. 89
Figure 38: Multiclass neural network predicting budget performance	.90
Figure 39: Budget performance prediction for validation dataset	.91
Figure 40: Evaluation model backend - simulating the schedule performance neural network on exc	el
	.94
Figure 41: Evaluation model backend - simulating the budget performance neural network on excel	. 95
Figure 42: Evaluation model user interface	.95
Figure 43: Evaluation model results	.96
Figure 44: Team, technological, managerial and contractual categories benchmarking scales	.97
Figure 45: Warning message	.98
Figure 46: Decision tree predicting schedule performance	104
Figure 47: Decision tree predicting budget performance1	104

List of tables:

Table 1: Differences between manufacturing and construction industry (Paez et al. 2005)	6
Table 2: Lean tools recommended for future use (Salem et al. 2005)	14
Table 3: Evaluation index system of lean construction implementation (Li et al. 2017):	17
Table 4: The results of lean construction implementation (n=50) (Li et al. 2017)	
Table 5: Scoring systems developed in previous literature	
Table 6: List of factors that affect the performance of a construction project	
Table 7: Expert-based survey Likert scale	
Table 8: Cronbach alpha value calculations	
Table 9: Average factor ratings in USA and Egypt	
Table 10: Factor weighted average and factor rank within category comparison	
Table 11: Lean factors frequency and quality Likert scale representation	
Table 12: Minimum and maximum scores	
Table 13: XYZ Company self-ratings	
Table 14: Projects' score and status	
Table 15: Data analysis for schedule variance vs. total score	
Table 16: Project score breakdown	
Table 17: Linear correlation between scores and project performance	
Table 18: Linear regression equation predicting project duration	
Table 19: Regression statistics for project duration	
Table 20: Linear regression equation predicting project budget	68
Table 21: Regression statistics for project budget	
Table 22: Parameters of non-linear equation predicting percent change in project duration	69
Table 23: Prediction results of non-linear regression for percent change in project duration	70
Table 24: Parameters of non-linear equation predicting percent change in project duration	72
Table 25: Prediction results of non-linear regression for percent change in project budget	72
Table 26: Numerical neural network prediction project duration results.	
Table 27: Numerical neural network prediction project duration results	75
Table 28: Numerical values for schedule categories	78
Table 29: Numerical values for budget categories	78
Table 30: Confusion matrix for predicting schedule performance - training data set	80
Table 31: Confusion matrix for predicting schedule performance - validation data set	80
Table 32: Confusion matrix for predicting budget performance - training data set	80
Table 33: Confusion matrix for budget performance - validation data set	
Table 34: Node weights of multiclass classification neural network predicting project schedule	
nerformance	86
Table 35: Confusion matrix for multiclass neural network predicting schedule performance -1	training
data set	.ranning 87
Table 36: Confusion matrix for multiclass neural network predicting schedule performance –	
validation data set	88
Table 37: Node weights of multiclass classification neural network predicting project hudget	
nerformance	90
Table 38: Confusion matrix for multiclass neural network predicting budget performance – tra	ining
data set	91
Table 39: Confusion matrix for multiclass neural network predicting budget performance – va	lidation
data set	Q1
Table 40: Comparison between the different algorithms used to develop the schedule predictic	n model
rable 40. Comparison between the unreferit argontums used to develop the selfcule prediction	
Table 41: Comparison between the different algorithms used to develop the budget prediction	model
These is comparison between the amorent algorithms used to develop the budget prediction	93

Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1 Background Information

Construction projects are challenging to manage due to their complex nature. Because of that, construction projects have been known to go beyond their scheduled duration and planned budget more often to the extent that delays and cost overruns are the norm rather than the exception (Sterman 2010). In fact, it was reported in a global construction survey that over 50% of engineering and construction professionals report one or more underachieving projects in a year (Armstrong et al. 2016). According to 69% of owners, the biggest reason for project underperformance is poor contractor performance (Armstrong et al. 2016). Mismanagement in construction projects leads to schedule slippage, which causes 66% of contractors to incur extra costs for overtime and second shifts in order to finish on schedule; despite these efforts, 50% of contractors still need to extend the project end date (Hamzeh et al. 2016). Hence, projects are completed over budget and behind schedule. Other research efforts indicate that 75% of construction projects exceed their original deadlines and 69% go above budget (Kliment, 2015).

The fact that most construction projects are over budget and behind schedule means that there is a waste of some kind taking place. Over the years, engineers are constantly trying to analyze and improve on the conventional building methods in order to cut time, cost and upgrade the quality of construction projects. One of the methods of process optimization widely used nowadays in the construction field is lean construction. This methodology aims to remove any part of a process that does not bring value to the customer. The process simply focuses on dividing the activities needed to complete a project into two categories, value added activities and non-value-added activities (El-Sawalhi et al. 2018). Lean principles are implemented to remove and reduce no value-added activities to the utmost minimum in order to deliver an end product that is up to the customer's specifications with less cost, time and waste (Akinradewo, et al. 2018). Lean construction has been gaining attention from companies and professionals in the field since its introduction in the early 1990s (Mughees et al. 2020). The reason for that is that the implementation of lean aids in overcoming challenges such as productivity loss (Koskela, 1992) waste generation (Diekmann et al. 2004), and environmental issues (EPA, 2018).

Effective implementation of lean construction leads to outcomes that have been described by some authors as "revolutionary" (Albalkhy et al. 2021). Such outcomes include

cost savings, decrease in project duration, improved safety measures, reduction in accidents on site, sustainability awareness, reduced waste generation, enhanced inventory management, higher labor productivity and improved customer satisfaction (Ko, 2010; Farrar et al., 2004; Mossman, 2009; Simonsson, 2007; Mohan, 2005; Salem et al., 2006; Conte et al., 2001). Frequent employment of lean practices in construction projects have been found to make projects three time more likely to be completed ahead of schedule and two times more likely to be completed under budget (Dodge and Analytics data, 2016). This was further validated by lean experts in the field, where 70% of 95 professionals acknowledged that implementing lean techniques led to improved performance and waste reduction (Mcgraw Hill, 2013). The effect of applying lean was quantified in case studies that showed that lean construction has shortened project schedule by 6–25% (Ballard et al., 2007; More et al., 2016; Erol et al., 2017), saved cost by 5–50% (Ballard et al., 2007) and increased productivity by 5–50% (Locatelli, 2013).

Lean construction affects both the contractor and the owner's sides. From the contractor's side, it improves the cash flow as money is being allocated correctly with minimum wastage (Akinradewo et al. 2018). Also, it enhances productivity and asset utilization which leads to increase in profit (El-Sawalhi et al. 2018). Moreover, it improves the contractor-owner relationship as the owner gets their intended value out of the project (El-Sawalhi et al. 2018). As for the owner's benefits, they are able to provide their customers with a consistent quality of product that is suitable for their needs. Also, construction time and cost are reduced without sacrificing quality (Ballard, 1999). Such benefits have encouraged countries such as USA, UK, Brazil, Chile, Peru, Ecuador, Venezuela, Finland, Denmark, South Korea, Singapore and Australia to implement lean and they are now considered the leading countries in adopting lean practices (Ballard et al., 2003; Johansen et al., 2007; Jørgensen et al., 2008).

It is important to note that the aforementioned benefits are only reaped by the project based on how well the employees implement lean techniques. According to Salem et al. (2006), proper implementation of lean techniques goes beyond the techniques themselves. In order to be able to get the maximum benefits of lean, there has to be a continuous change in employees' behavior. Such behavior included team work, active communication and high levels of visualization. The fact that project performance improvement is directly linked to how well lean techniques are implemented leads to a set of intriguing questions. The first is what are the factors that if applied frequently and efficiently entitle a project to be lean? Additionally, how can the quality of implementing such factors be measured in a construction project? How are lean factors related to project performance and lastly, how is project leanness linked to performance in terms of the project's schedule and budget? These questions shed a light on the knowledge gap that this research intends to fill. This is implemented through extensively studying the different factors that impact lean implementation, followed by the development of a novel lean index to measure the "leanness" of projects, then a detailed investigation on how project performance is affected by such lean factors.

1.2 Research Goal, Objectives, and Merits

The goal of this research is to develop and benchmark a scoring system that utilizes lean principles to evaluate the "leanness" of construction projects and predict their performance. The objectives are:

- (1) identifying the key lean factors that impact the leanness of projects;
- (2) determining the relative importance of these factors with respect to construction projects;
- (3) developing a scoring index that measures the leanness of construction projects;
- (4) benchmarking construction projects based on the leanness index, and
- (5) developing a machine learning model for predicting project performance based on its implementation of lean strategies.

The outcomes of this research fill the existing gap since it is the first to develop a leanness index and link it to project performance. The research will help project participants to assess their management practices and pinpoint the areas of strengths and weaknesses through comparing their leanness index to the identified benchmarks. Finally, the developed machine learning model, which is processed to a user-friendly tool, will enable project managers to predict the cost and schedule performance based on the employed management practices; thus, aiding in decision-making and improving the overall performance of construction projects.

1.3 Thesis Organization and Structure

This research consists of seven chapters described briefly through the following:

- 1. Chapter 1 provides background information about the research point of departure and describes the goals, objectives and significance of this research.
- 2. Chapter 2 summarizes the literature found on the different lean construction techniques and their effectiveness in construction projects, and summarizes the current project scoring systems body of knowledge; ending with describing the knowledge gap.
- 3. Chapter 3 outlines the utilized research methodology.
- 4. Chapter 4 discusses the process of identifying the key lean factors and developing the

project leanness score and benchmarking scale.

- 5. Chapter 5 employs the established project leanness score in developing a project performance prediction model through different machine learning algorithms.
- 6. Chapter 6 compiles the project leanness score along with the benchmarking scales established and showcases them in a user-friendly tool for construction companies to self-rate their performance. The tool also indicates areas of strength and weakness for the user to use as a guiding reference when setting recovery plans and company objectives.
- 7. Chapter 7 summarizes the research findings in the conclusion, discusses research limitations and recommendations for future research.

Chapter 2. Literature Review

This chapter is divided into four sections, each representing a topic in lean construction. The sections include a detailed description, analysis and critique of the literature found on the topic. The first section discusses how the original lean production concepts were adapted to fit the construction industry. It also addresses the fundamental differences between production and construction and how that affects the implementation of lean tools. Secondly, a description of the most used lean construction techniques and tools implemented globally is presented. After explaining the different techniques used, a section is dedicated to demonstrate the effectiveness of lean construction techniques. This section is important as it exemplifies the benefits along with the limitations of each lean technique when it comes to implementing it in construction sites. It also shows the factors affecting the correct implementation of lean tools and discusses ways on how to overcome them. Finally, literature findings of the previously developed construction-related scoring indices are presented and a summary of the research establishing lean construction rating systems is done. The chapter concludes with a statement describing the problem statement and knowledge gap that this research is tackling.

2.1 Moving from Lean Production to Lean Construction

Lean construction principles and techniques were adapted through applying the original lean thinking principles that were initially implemented in Toyota Production Systems (TPS) (Becker, 1998). Originally, there were five main principles in lean thinking: value identification, value stream mapping, waste elimination, customer pull and pursuit for perfection (Womack et al., 1996). There are many fundamental differences between a production process and a construction process. These differences, which are summarized in Table 1 below, demand for an appropriate adjustment of the traditional lean production tools in order for the tools to achieve desired results when applied to construction projects.

Aspects	Construction industry	Manufacturing industry
Duration (life cycle)	Short	Long
Nature	One-of-a-kind nature	Repetitive
Work Station	Transient	Stable
Material components	Non-standardized	Standardized
Material supply	Schedule-driven	Order-driven
Safety provision	Less enforced	Highly enforced
Labour force	Seasonal, low job security	Not seasonal, higher employment security
Wages	Vary depending on skill, experience, and employers	More stable wage policies
Environment	Productivity influenced by the change in environment	Productivity less influenced by the change in environment
Assembly and production	final production is assembled in situ	Within the factory
Technology	Low level of automation, prefer not to use	Better and advanced
Quality	Related to product conformance; Rework is common	More closely to process control; Rework is generally avoided
Owner involvement	Highly involved	Less involved
Culture	Ill-defined, site personnel know nothing of company's management philosophy	Clearly defined so that staff are conscious of it
Regulatory	Design solution and many work phases in a construction project are subject to checks and	Less subject to checks and approvals

 Table 1: Differences between manufacturing and construction industry (Paez et al. 2005)

According to Paez et al. (2005), the transition from lean production to lean construction tools was done in three forms. The first form is adaptation, in which it is argued that lean construction techniques were first adapted as is from lean production techniques. Were the techniques that were applicable to the construction industry without any alterations were first implemented. An example of such adaptation is the Kanban cards system implementation in construction sites. The direct execution of the tools helped in understanding the difference between production and construction; which then gave room for analysis and paved the way to expansion. Where it is said to be the second form, the lean production techniques were expanded to include techniques that fit the construction industry. An example of such expansion would be the development of the and on system which involved only visual inspection of defective parts to include visualization of material and workflow. The third level included introducing new lean techniques fit for construction implementation. Such new techniques included the last planner system (LPS) which was developed in early 1990s by Glenn Ballard and Gregory Howell and has quickly become one of the most fundamental lean construction tools (Pasquire et al. 2016). Both of them developed a tool that helps in scheduling the construction sequence utilizing the reverse phase schedule. In the years that followed, several lean construction techniques were further developed and modified. According to Suresh et al. (2011), there are nine main techniques and tools of lean construction that are developed. These nine tools are as follows: Last planner system (LPS), daily huddle meetings, increased visualization, off-site prefabrication, 5s, fail safe, root cause analysis, first run study and Just in time. It is important to note that these techniques are not meant to be implemented all together, however they are used according to the project's needs and requirements. Moreover, not all techniques are effective when implemented on site as several of them require modifications and intense training to construction workers in order to yield the intended results. An explanation to each method and its effectiveness on site will follow later on in this chapter. A detailed explanation will follow in the below parts of this chapter

2.2 Lean Construction Techniques and Tools

Lean construction is a philosophy of waste elimination, adding value, and continuous improvement rather than just an implementation of a set of tools (Ballard et al., 2007). Lean philosophy aims to primarily eliminate non-value-added activities to a project (Conte et al., 2001). This is done through repetitive iterations that not only aim to advance new technical approaches, but also develop the soft skills and intellect of employees to be able to carry on the philosophy to get the desired end result (Diekmann et al., 2004). Having this philosophy established, there are various tools that aid in implementing such philosophy. The following is a summary of the key lean construction tools:

2.2.1. Last Planner System (LPS)

The last planner system (LPS) is a tool that works on optimizing the flow of work. It operates using the "pull" planning instead of the traditional "push" planning (Ballard, 1999). Where the pull technique works backwards by matching the workflow, capacity and productivity to develop construction methods (Ballard, 1999). While the push method takes traditional construction methods and creates a schedule based on it (Ballard, 1999). Utilizing LPS allows for creating a realistic schedule instead of an overly optimistic or pessimistic one (Pasquire et al., 2016). This schedule is based on collaborative input from the project's stockholders. The LPS approach helps in delivering projects on time, reducing costs and improving employer's satisfaction (Salem et al., 2005). In LPS, planners work on developing a schedule that facilitates workflow. The sequence of LPS technique, as explained by Salem et al. (2005), shown in Figure 1 goes as follows: master schedule, reverse phase schedules (RPS), six-week lookahead (SWLA), weekly work plan (WWP) and planned percentage complete (PPC). As seen from the sequence, LPS is designed to tackle project schedule from a very broad level narrowing down to the detailed activity level. The technique also allows for constant monitoring of the project's progress through the PPC.



Figure 1: The sequence of Last Planner Process (Salem et al. 2005)

The efficiency and practicality of the LPS technique were assessed in previous research. It was found that the PPC values usually range from 30-70% using traditional planning however, implementing LPS raises them up to 90% (Ballard, 1999). LPS contributes not only to improved planning efficiency of the project, but also improved overall project performance and delivery (Tokede, 2016). The tool is currently being utilized in several construction projects as it is becoming known for its promising end results and efficiency. The available literature is rich with case studies of projects were LPS was used. Such case studies include worldwide projects such as, but not limited to, India (Vignesh, 2017), New Zealand (Fuemana et al., 2013) and Nigeria (Ahiakwo et al., 2013). Where they discuss the practicality, results and challenges associated with implementing LPS in construction projects.

2.2.2. Daily Huddle Meetings

Daily huddles are meetings held on a daily basis with employees, workers and managers from all involved disciplines in the project. The main aim of these meetings is to improve communication and coordination within teams and between teams across different disciplines (Salem et al. 2005). In the meetings, workers update each other on the status of the project and discuss briefly the activities to be done on that day. This allows for improving the overall morale of the project, as employees feel involved and it increases their sense of ownership to the project. The daily meetings also give indications to managers about the areas where employees struggle the most with and can help give insight to providing solutions. This improves coordination within the entity, also helps the communication between the different departments (Salem et al. 2005).

2.2.3. Increased Visualization

This tool follows the *Kanban* Japanese system, where it focuses on delivering information through signs, labels and infographics. This tool helps workers remember key

information as having the signs and images around the site provides for an easy way to transmit the important information to the brain. (Salem et al. 2005)

2.2.4. Off-site Fabrication

Off-site fabrication is the process of prefabricating structural elements away from the construction site and having them delivered to site when and where they are needed. This affects positively several elements of the construction process. For example, as the number of labors, equipment and material present on site is reduced, traffic and maneuvering gets enhanced and becomes more safe on site (Pasquire et al. 2002). It also reduces material storage area, optimizing the usage of spaces. In addition, it increases flexibility and efficiency especially when using the just in time technique (Pasquire et al. 2002. Moreover, having elements fabricated away from the site improves its quality and reduces errors done (Pasquire et al. 2002). This provides for good quality control and improves customer satisfaction (Pasquire et al. 2002).

2.2.5. 5S

The advancement of lean principles led to the development of 5 lean concepts that are now widely referred to as 5S. The name comes as an abbreviation of the 5-step process that is used when it comes to increasing overall productivity and efficiency. The 5S process aims to optimize construction through eliminating waste, avoiding unneeded activities and unnecessary items (Hiwale et al., 2018). These 5 steps are sort, set in order, shine, standardize and sustain. Sort is the first step of the process, where unnecessary and unwanted items and workflow steps are identified and eliminated. This is applied in construction through the context of removing unnecessary equipment, materials and redundant activities (Yang et al., 2004). That way, only the equipment and materials that are constantly in use are allocated in the site and unneeded materials and equipment are transported out of the site freeing up site work area and storage space. The second step is set in order, where it requires things to be at the right place in the right time in order to minimize waiting time. This is exemplified through having a procurement strategy that is constantly updated and followed according to the progress of the site in order for materials and equipment to arrive at the right time (Hiwale et al., 2018). Additionally, an efficient site layout aids in having things in the right place minimizing movement on site and therefore decreasing time wastage. Then comes the third step, shine; were continuous waste removal and maintenance is done. After that, comes the standardization step were previously established norms and practices are standardized. For example, in construction projects,

standardize can be done in regulating inspection processes and homogenizing project reports formatting to facilitate easier and faster progress (Hiwale et al., 2018). The last step is to sustain, where employees have to keep a constant effort in sustaining the established 5S process in order to fully realize the benefits of implementing the 5S technique.

2.2.6. Fail Safe for Quality and Safety

The idea of fail-safe is based on developing a quality control system that prevents defective work from flowing in the construction process. This is done through visual inspection, constant monitoring and proper transportation, storage and installation of materials. Fail safe for safety is done through utilizing safety assessment tools to remove potential hazards. Both approaches allow for prevention of defects and hazards (Salem et al. 2005)

2.2.7. Root Cause Analysis

Root cause analysis is a systematic iterative process that deals with identifying the origin of an error and works on eliminating this source of the error (Sarkar et al. 2013). Causes of errors should be actionable, where as soon as they are discovered, a plan is done with clear action points to prevent the repetition of this error. The goal of root cause analysis is to identify what caused the error and how this error happened. Then, corrective measures are done to tackle the original root cause and not just the superficial source of error. This helps in establishing a permanent solution to problems that arise. The repetition of corrective actions also optimizes the construction process as it continuously improves. Root cause analysis can be applicable in construction on productivity issues, risk analysis, human error, and risk mapping (Sarkar et al. 2013).

2.2.8. First Run Studies

This lean tool is utilized in order to continuously improve and re-develop processes involved in the project. It works on studying a certain process with great detail and developing new alternative methods of doing the work (Salem et al. 2005). This is done through analyzing productivity rates, construction methods, coordination and overlapping of the different functions involved. First run studies are performed in a cycle made up of 4 steps (Salem et al. 2005). The first step is "plan"; where the process under study is chosen, the steps in the process are analyzed and feedback of people working on the process is taken. The second step is "do", in which new ideas for performing the work are tried. Then, comes the third step which is check, where a review of the ideas is done and checked to compare what was planned to what actually happened. The last step is "act", where the improved method is finalized, the steps are explained and communicated to the team and the new method is implemented (Salem et al. 2005).

2.2.9. Just In Time (JIT)

One of the most widely known lean tools is the Just-In-Time (JIT) tool (Groenevelt, 1993). JIT simply works on eliminating all types of waste in order to improve productivity. The method aims to achieve the ideal state of having the right amount of input materials ready when and where they are needed. JIT system works through incorporating several lean tools at the same time (Pheng et al., 1999). The first lean tool utilized in JIT is the pull planning tool where the desired end result of the project determines how it will be planned. This is opposed to push planning where the project schedule is built based on an anticipation of the required duration of each activity. JIT also incorporates the Kanban system where materials, equipment and tools are labeled according to their type, activities they are used in and where and how to store them. Kanban improves the overall site coordination, allows for smooth movement between the consecutive stages of construction and reduces wait time (Pheng et al., 1999). Other important elements that JIT regulates are setup time and production smoothing. Where construction activity time is planned to include the setup time of tools, equipment and machines required to efficiently carry out activities without wasting time. Moreover, production smoothing makes sure that the site workspace is organized allowing for a steady productivity rate of repetitive activities. Lastly, JIT works on standardizing operations where repetitive activities and processes are assigned to the same crews. This helps in reducing variability in production time, improving workflow, identifying unnecessary people, material or machinery and recognizing sources of errors hence improving overall quality (Groenevelt, 1993). Several construction projects incorporated JIT in regulating building inventory management (Akintoye, 1995), increasing the project's productivity and quality (Pheng et al., 2011) and facilitating a smooth workflow of construction activities (Hussein et al., 2021).

2.3 Effectiveness of Lean Construction Techniques

As previously stated, the existing literature shows that lean construction techniques and tools are gaining momentum across the world. The popularity of lean construction arises from the promising results of implementing lean (Ballard et al., 2003). As a natural response to such results, 23% of construction firms worldwide have reported their intention to implement lean construction techniques to in order improve project performance (Scott, 2021).

Lean construction tools require extensive research and planning prior to implementing them on site. The research presented herein shows that despite the extensive efforts done in developing lean tools, some still require modifications in order to demonstrate the desired results. The study conducted by Salem et al. (2005) assesses six different lean construction tools based on their implementation in a university garage project and suggests areas of improvement for each tool as seen in Table 2. The last planner system showed promising results as the project finished earlier than its planned time. The percent plan complete (PPC) values of the project were ranging between 70% to 90% in which the author attributed such high values to the last planner's commitment to the project. This shows that successful implementation of lean tools relies not only on the lean tools themselves but also on the employee's conduct. The increased visualization tool helped in showing the progress of the project through updating the visual signs after every milestone. The signs also improved the commitment and morale of employees. As for the effectiveness of daily huddle meetings, the evaluation showed that more than 80% of planners and 67% of workers found value in the meetings hence, proving its effectiveness. The first run studies showed astounding results proving that productivity can be increased from 53% to 62% without additional investment. This can be done through simply placing the material close to the work area and having a standard crew perform the activity. Finally, fail safe for quality and safety, OSHA standards were followed and the percentage of safe work improved by 27.8%. in conclusion, implementation of lean tools was beneficial to the project as the project's actual duration was reduced and the overall communication and commitment to the project was improved (Salem et al., 2005)

Enabler	Status	Recommendations 1.Emphasis on Reverse Phase Scheduling 2.Emphasis on variance Analysis	
Last Planner	Ready to be implemented		
Visualization	To be implemented with some modifications	 Integrated approach Safety-Quality- Housekeeping 	
Daily Huddle Meetings	To be implemented with some modifications	Change frequency of the meetings with smaller groups	
First Run Studies	To be implemented with some modifications	1 Integrate with scrum meetings (Tool Box Meetings) 2 Document learning process	
The 5s Process	To be implemented with some modifications	Housekeeping can be address with Increased Visualization	
Fail Safe For Quality and Safety	To be re-examined	1 Use Plan Conditions and Work Environment 2 Use Quality at the Source	

Table 2: Lean tools recommended for future use (Salem et al. 2005)

2.3.1. Benefits of implementing lean construction

When assessing the effectiveness of lean construction techniques, one must look at the benefits that are associated with implementing lean techniques in real life construction sites. According to Kilpatrick (2003), lean construction techniques provide improvements in three main aspects; strategic, administrative and operational. The strategic aspect is improved through better client-contractor relationship and client satisfaction. This allows companies to have a good reputation and therefore increases their market share. The administrative improvements include reducing redundant processes, standardizing repetitive tasks and homogenizing project reports are all benefits associated with implementing lean (Kilpatrick, 2003). The operational aspect is improved as the productivity and quality of work increases, site space is more efficiently utilized and flow of work is improved (Kilpatrick, 2003 and Ogunbiyi et al., 2014). Other authors were in agreement with the operational benefits of lean construction and they were quantified as follows; increased labor productivity enhancement by 43%, reduction in cycle time by 41% and process efficiency enhancement by 27% (Abbasian-Hosseini et al., 2014). There are other intangible advantages to implementing lean construction such as improved corporate image, improved project delivery and increasing client satisfaction through delivering projects that are to up client expectations (Ogunbiyi et al., 2014). Lastly, authors also attested improvement in the environmental quality of projects that regularly implement lean construction (Ogunbiyi et al., 2014 and Bajjou et al., 2018). It is important to note that there are a number of other benefits associated with lean construction, however each project realizes these benefits differently depending on the frequency and proficiency of utilizing the tools.

2.3.2. Last Planner System Challenges and Proposed Implementation Strategies in Egypt

The following is a summary of a case study by Abdel hamid et al. (2019) where they studied the effectiveness and limitations of LPS in Egypt. The author first started by conducting a survey in order to know whether participants were aware of the LPS tool and have them rate the difficulty of implementing the system in the Egyptian market. It is important to note that the survey included participants working with contractors, consultants and developers (owners), this made the survey inclusive of all different opinions. However, the survey was done on only 22 participants and the researchers did not indicate their level of experience, this makes the data retrieved not very trustable and it affects the overall credibility of the research. The survey showed that 91% of participants were not aware of LPS and have never heard of it before. In addition, 81% of the participants viewed that the implementation of LPS was very difficult in the Egyptian market. The survey showed that the main challenges of the application of LPS in Egypt are as follows: 1) the Egyptian professional's resistance to adaptation of a new culture. 2) the complexity of the LPS technique on the workers at the site. 3) the inaccuracy of the time schedules for projects. 4) lack of awareness and commitment from stakeholders. 5) the time spent on planning is seen as a waste of time. 6) lack of communication in Egyptian sites. Looking at these challenges, one can agree with the results of this survey as the Egyptian construction is very complicated and difficult. As seen from the survey, the majority of project managers are most comfortable with the traditional construction techniques. Therefore, they will naturally resist implementing a new technique. Especially that the LPS is not easy to implement as it is complex, it involves multiple levels, it needs a deep understanding of the tool and it requires a great level of commitment.

Abdel hamid et al. (2019) then started to present proposed strategies in order to help overcome the challenges. They proposed conducting training that would get stakeholders involved in the project more familiar with LPS. Moreover, presenting case studies of successful applications of the tool as a way to convince people of the effectiveness of LPS. The proposed strategy would help raise the overall awareness of the concept of lean practices. Moreover, stressing the effectiveness of LPS on the time and cost of the project would convince stakeholders to consider change. As for the issue of lack of commitment of people, Abdel hamid et al. (2019) suggested a system of competitive partnering, which involves having two or more parties partner together for a project. Then, the parties would adopt the LPS and the

project developer would provide incentives based on the better PPC performance. Abdel hamid et al. (2019) then cited a reference Nani & Apraku (2016) which found that since workers in Africa and the Middle East generally have low salaries, they rank bonuses as their number one financial reward system and that performance is boosted whenever there are financial bonuses. The author also suggested introducing the LPS system in Egypt in two phases. Where phase 1 would include implementing the LPS system on a small-scale project with a contract value less than 5 million EGP and with a repetitive nature. Where this project will initially start without implementing the LPS and then LPS tools will be introduced. Then, the different project tracking values will be compared to emphasize the effect of implementing LPS. This would then lead to phase 2 that involves integrating LPS schedules with 4D simulation for larger projects. Where a presentation will be done to familiarize people of the LPS tool and present the findings in the project of the first phase. Then, BIM technology is used to show the change in construction sequence when using LPS. During implementation, weekly tracking is conducted and analyzed to make sure that there is advancement. When analyzing this strategy, one can see that it will take a very long time to have a credible database that can be used in marketing. Moreover, the author's suggestion of using BIM models and 4D sounds convincing in theory, however the majority of construction companies in Egypt still do not use BIM. Therefore, using BIM models to market the effectiveness of LPS might make people reluctant as they would feel too unfamiliar with the process.

When comparing the findings of Salem et al. (2005) and Abdel hamid et al (2019), it is noticeable that the effectiveness of a lean construction does not rely solely on the improvement of the tool itself, it also relies on the culture that this tool would be implemented in. For example, in the case study presented by Salem, the LPS was perceived to be ready for implementation with few recommendations in the country (not mentioned) that the study was conducted in. While on the other hand, things did not look very promising in the study conducted in Egypt as the majority of people were not even aware of the technique. This indicates that the Egyptian market relies on familiar traditional construction methods and has a greater resistance to change. It also shows that greater efforts should be exerted in order to manage the implementation of lean techniques in Egypt. This can be done through simplifying the lean tools in order to appropriate them to the culture. Such appropriation would help convince people to easily transition to lean tools.

In further attempts to evaluate the effectiveness of lean construction tools, this study was conducted by Li et al. (2017), in order to assess how lean construction is implemented in

China and show what factors contribute to its implementation. The paper worked on comparing two large construction firms in China, TGC and HCG, where TGC is a state-owned company and HCG is a privately held company. 10 projects from each company were selected to be evaluated, which is good as it provides a large spectrum for evaluation. The survey was done on 7 construction management tools and the evaluation index is shown in Table 3 below. Where for every question shown in the table below, 50 workers from each company rated from 1 (lowest) to 5 (highest) their degree of agreement or disagreement with its implementation. The expertise of the survey respondents ranged from project managers, assistant managers, foremen, and workers. The results of all questions were added together and the mean was taken to give an implication about the effectiveness of each of the 7 lean tools in question. The survey results can be seen in Table 4.

Table 3: Evaluation	on index system	of lean construction	n implementation	(Li et al.	2017):
---------------------	-----------------	----------------------	------------------	------------	--------

Last planner system (LPS)	1: Percentage of weekly plan completion
	2: First-line managers (foremen) participate in the work week plan
	3: After completion of the weekly work plan, adjust monthly plan
Visible management (VM)	1: Publish work task standard company-wide
	2: The progress, quality, and safety information company-wide posted
	3: Task commitment signed to each captain
Conference management (CM)	1: Daily meetings to discuss previous day's work and arrange work for the day
	2: First-line managers conduct weekly meeting, discuss work problems of last week to arrange work for next week
Just in time (JIT)	1: Construction process working smoothly, no waiting time, also no spare processing
	2: Constraint management of various standards and requirements during construction
	3: Material, manpower, equipment sent to the scene on time according to regulations
Concurrent engineering (CE)	1: Various assignments of construction activities and assignment flow standardization
	2: Parallel construction
	3: Construction team or group maintains information sharing
	4: Collaborative construction and design
	5: PDCA technology
Total quality management (TQM)	1: All staff participate in quality control
	2: Whole process quality control
	3: Construction cost accounting
	4: Timely maintenance and repair of equipment failure
6S On-site management	1: Classify (Seiri): Separate the waste from the required materials at this stage
	2: Tidy (Seiton): Track the position of construction tools, equipment and documents on the site
	3: Clean (Seiso): Clean the construction site to a no dirt clean condition
	4: Purify (Setketsu): Maintain the cleanliness of the construction site and standardize it
	5: Accomplishment (Shitsuke): Train employees to abide by the rules and regulations and form good civilized habits and team spirit
	6: Safety: Prevent potential accidents and eliminate dangers to ensure personal safety and production is normal

Instruments of lean	TGC		HCG	
construction	Mean (m)	Standard deviation	Mean (m)	Standard deviation
LPS	3.73	0.70	4.14	0.61
VM	4.10	0.41	3.76	0.72
СМ	3.64	0.52	4.00	0.61
JIT	3.67	0.54	4.01	0.50
CE	3.86	0.59	4.03	0.58
TQM	4.18	0.47	4.47	0.46
6 S	4.11	0.40	3.89	0.49
Overall	3.90	0.56	4.04	0.60

Table 4: The results of lean construction implementation (n=50) (Li et al. 2017)

As seen in the table above, the mean values for the overall implementation of the tools for both companies are very closely tied. The author tried to understand the meaning of the survey conducted through interviews with respondents from each company. The interviews showed the difference in understanding of lean as a concept in both companies. For example, TGC views lean construction as a way to achieve green construction where they focus on reducing waste and carbon emissions. Moreover, TGC project managers showed resistance to culture change as managed projects according to the traditional ways; therefore, they do not have a clear implementation scheme of lean construction. On the other hand, HCG views lean construction as a method that helps in improving profits by optimizing the construction process, reducing material waste and avoiding delays. Though this was not clearly written in the paper, the difference in the mindset of the two companies may be the reason why the overall implementation of lean principles in HCG is higher than that of TGC. This is due to the fact that the mindset of HCG is closer to what lean construction truly is than the mindset of TGC, which makes the implementation more effective. Therefore, an important conclusion can be drawn and that is the effectiveness of lean construction is only as good as the correct understanding of lean principles. Therefore, in order to make sure companies understand lean principles correctly, professional training programs can be done to educate employees. Such training can also educate companies on the different benefits of correctly implementing lean. That way, companies are more willing to implement new techniques as they would feel more equipped and confident.

The paper also lists the factors that positively and negatively influenced both companies when applying lean construction techniques. TGC viewed that a positive factor that lean construction provides is strong organizational structure, where traditionally, actions of all employees in the project have to act in accordance with the management plan. This does not provide workers with a sense of ownership and prolongs the troubleshooting process. However, the lean technique provides the pull system, where workers are able to stay in direct contact with decision makers. This makes their voices heard and accelerates the process of rectifying any errors. The second factor that TGC viewed as an obstacle when implementing lean is the level of education and information that workers have. Where if workers do not have a proper knowledge, they will not be able to apply lean techniques and therefore the desired outcome will not be attained. Again, this enforces the importance of having a training program that educates employees prior to implementation of the techniques. As for HCG, they viewed that lean helps in providing a solution to the gap between the design stage and the construction stage. Where construction on site does not necessarily follow the exact design process due to the frequent changes in the schedule. Hence, they viewed that the pull planning technique done through LPS provided a more effective alternative to the traditional push planning technique. Another factor that HCG saw as challenging, is the material schedule planning. Where in order to correctly implement lean, materials have to arrive at site perfectly on time in order to avoid delaying work due to lack of material or overstocking of materials due to early arrival (Li et al. 2017). Overall, this paper gave a proper insight through assessing several projects in two different companies. The variability of the projects and the different identities of the companies provided more opinions and gave different perspectives as to the challenges faced by the companies when implementing lean. The only shortcoming of the paper was that the author did not explain the results found in great detail. The discussion part of the paper involved some statistical tests that were not explained and hence the significance of these tests results were not appreciated by the reader. Such explanation of the statistical tests done would have given the readers a more profound understanding of the results. It would also allow the reader to make their own assessment of the credibility of such tests and their results (Li et al. 2017).

2.4 Developing Scoring Indices

Scoring indices are usually established for the purpose of evaluating performance. They serve as early warning systems for entities to monitor their performance and set mitigation plans when their performance is hindered. The validity of a scoring system is derived directly from the legitimacy of the logic that the score is built upon (Kapliński, O., 2008). Hence, it is important to study how the different scoring indices are developed and what are the different aspects that should be considered when developing a fair scoring index

2.4.1. Scoring indices evaluating construction projects

Since the purpose of this research is to develop a project leanness score, previously established scoring systems that evaluate construction project performance were studied. Table 5 shows a compiled list of the research efforts that developed scoring systems that assess different aspects of construction projects (Elsayegh et al., 2021).

Table 5: Scoring systems developed in previous literature

Scoring Methods in previous literature	Reference
Pre – Construction scoring systems:	
Score to aid contractors in deciding on whether to bid or not in new projects	(Chisala, 2017)
Score to measure accuracy of the estimated project cost – Estimate Score Program (ESP)	(Oberlender et al., 2021)
Score measuring the project's construction readiness – Construction Readiness Score (CRS)	(Ibrahim et al., 2021)
Index indicating how well the project's scope is defined in the detailed design phase before construction	(Dumont et al., 1997)
Project Management:	
Evaluation of benefits associated with implementing information systems in construction management process	(Yu et al., 2006)
Score assessing contractor's overall performance – Project Quarterback Rating (PQR)	(Hanna et al., 2014)
Rating system assessing competencies of project managers	(Hanna et al., 2016)
Rating score that assesses project sensitivity to the risk out-of- sequence events as compared to the averages of such risks in the industry.	(Abotaleb et al., 2020)
Index assessing the effectiveness of collaborative planning in construction - Collaborative Planning Index (CPI)	(Elsayegh et al., 2021)
Performance Indicators:	
Rating system to assess the possible positive outcomes of implementing a technology on construction productivity	(Goodrum et al., 2011)
Model assessing performance for water and wastewater construction projects – Project Performance Rating (PPR)	(Abi Shadid et al., 2019)
Index evaluating globalizing performance of construction and engineering firms	(Comu et al., 2015)
Guiding model measuring maturity of integrated industrial project delivery capabilities	(Barutha, 2018)
Score measuring integrated project delivery enhancement through implementing information and communication technology	(Ahmad et al., 2019)
Benchmarking labor productivity through indices like the disruption index (DI), performance ratio (PR), and project management index (PMI)	(Abdel-Razek, et al., 2007)
Sustainability Ratings:	
Rating system for assessing sustainability rating systems – Meta framework Assessing Ratings of Sustainability (MARS)	(Papajohn et al., 2017)

2.4.2. Lean Construction Rating System

The available literature is very limited when it comes to developing scores assessing the leanness of construction projects. This may be due to the fact that implementing lean tools in a construction project does not in and of itself suffice for the complete "leanness" of the project. Therefore, evaluation of the leanness of a project is complicated as it has to include several aspects. The only study that is found to develop a leanness rating is this research that was conducted in a team effort done between the University of Karlsruhe in Germany and the Universidade Federal do Parana in Brazil. Where the primary objective of the research is to assess the applications of lean construction in Germany and Brazil. The quality rating model depends mainly on performing qualitative analysis through conducting interviews and a quantitative evaluation that shows the degree of applying lean construction in projects (Hofacker et al. 2008).

The process of obtaining a quality rating is done through four main processes: 1) brainstorming and mind mapping 2) Evaluation sheet 3) visualization of results and 4) categorization into degree of company leanness. In the brainstorming phase, the model incorporates two different framework models, the rapid plant assessment and the model for evaluating the degree of leanness of manufacturing firms. It also incorporates a detailed questionnaire comprised of 30 questions for 6 main categories. These categories are: 1) client focus, 2) waste consciousness 3) quality 4) material flow 5) organization, planning & information flow 6) continuous improvement (Hofacker et al. 2008).

In the evaluation sheet, each of the 30 questions are given ratings from 0 to 6 where 0 means not applied and 6 means fully applied. Based on the responses of the questionnaire, a percentage of each category is graphed in order to show areas of strength and highlight areas of weakness. An example of this graph is shown in the Figure 2 below. Then, the percentage of all 6 categories are added together and divided by 180 (the total points for the 30 questions) and a classification of the leanness degree is obtained through the scale shown in Figure 3 below. The quality rating model then classifies companies into three main classes. Where companies in the "A class" are applying lean construction principles perfectly, "B class" are companies that focus on achieving high quality and are exerting efforts to implement lean construction philosophy. As for "C class" companies, they are conscious of quality but they have very low awareness of lean philosophy. Lastly, "D class" companies have very low quality and have wastes (Hofacker et al. 2008). This paper presents a very useful scoring scale

however, one of its biggest shortcomings is that it does not provide areas of strength and weakness to the companies who participated in the research. Therefore, the scale is not very beneficial if it is not accompanied with proper insights and action points for the companies to further improve their lean performance. There are no other papers found that gave insights on what companies should do to improve performance. Hence, such evaluation system along with insight and points of improvement could be expanded on in this research.



Figure 2: Rapid LC-Quality Rating Model (Hofacker et al. 2008)

	Result	% achieved	step	Interpretation of class
LC	aaa	95% to 100%	6	
LC	aa	89% to 94%	6	and LC application)
LC	а	81% to 88%	8	J
LC	bbb	73% to 80%	8]
LC	bb	64% to 72%	9	(high quality focus and lean-learning within the main project / company levels)
LC	b	55% to 63%	9)
LC	ccc	46% to 54%	9	
LC	cc	37% to 45%	9	construction knowledge)
LC	c	28% to 36%	9	J
LC	ddd	19% to 27%	9	
LC	dd	10% to 18%	9	(low quality and low improvement focus, wa steful)
LC	d	0 to 9%	10	J

Figure 3: Quality rating scale (Hofacker et al. 2008)

2.5 Problem Statement

As seen, there are several factors in a project that are directly affected by the implementation of lean principles. These factors can be technically related to the project, such as improving quality, material flow & pull, schedule and cost overruns and efficiency of equipment & resources used. Lean principles also improve the project on the managerial level through improving client focus, waste consciousness. organization planning & information flow, continuous improvement and lastly coordination among parties. In conclusion, the literature found on lean construction is very rich when it comes to explaining the different lean techniques and tools. There are also several studies that address the effectiveness of lean tools when implemented in construction sites. However, very few research efforts could be found on evaluating the implementation of lean principles in construction sites. Consequently, there is a knowledge gap on how to give advice companies on areas to improve based on their current lean practice positions. For instance, the quality rating model presented by Hofacker (2008) has limitations as it only indicates to companies where they stand but does not indicate areas for improvement nor does it provide a benchmark for companies to compare their performance to others. Therefore, there is no real benefit for a company to know where it stands on the scale if it is not provided with insights on how to move up the scale. Knowing the factors in construction projects that are directly affected by lean principles, they can be used to give a complete assessment of a company's performance. Moreover, the effect of implementing lean

principles on project performance can be used to predict the project's performance in terms of schedule and budget. In other words, just by implementing lean construction tools does not guarantee reduction in cost and time overruns. There is a gap when it comes to identifying the factors that support the success/failure of implementing lean construction tools, and quantifying the impact of those factors to the actual performance of construction projects. Hence, this is the gap that this study intends to fill, where it will provide a project leanness score and benchmarking scale that show where a company stands and where it needs to improve its position based on other companies in the industry.

Chapter 3. Research Methodology

The methodology proposed in this chapter follows seven different stages with different tools for each stage. Based on the literature review presented in the previous chapter, a conclusion can be drawn that there are several factors affected by the implementation of lean principles. Therefore, in order to be able to develop an accurate leanness score, data is collected through surveys that tackle two different aspects. The first, expert-based surveys, where experts who have previous experience with lean construction answer a survey to help determine the key factors that are directly affected by implementing lean construction. Then, a project-based survey is conducted in order to be able to assess the performance of construction companies. Performance assessment is done based on the key factors obtained through the expert surveys. Based on the results of both surveys and the literature analysis, a project leanness score and benchmarking scale are developed in order to quantify the overall quality of performance of the company and highlight points of strength and weakness. The sequence of the methodology is shown in Figure 4 below:



Figure 4: Sequence of methodology

3.1 Identification of Factors Defining a Lean Construction Project

In the kickoff stage of this research, literature review analysis is done in order to be

able to find out which lean factors directly affect construction projects the most. This stage is critical as the lean factors identified in this stage are used as basis to build the survey questions and the evaluation model in the stages to follow. Hence, extensive literature review research is done and as soon as the lean factors are identified, the second stage of the research begins.

3.2 Determining the Relative Importance of Factors

This stage of the research involves creating an expert-based survey. Where a questionnaire is generated and responses of experts who previously worked utilizing lean Principles is collected. The questions in this survey are based on the factors identified in the first stage of the research. As previously mentioned in Chapter 2, such factors can include: client focus, waste consciousness, quality, cost and time overrun. The main aim of the expert-based survey is to be able to assign weights to each of these factors based on the expert opinions gathered. These weights would then dictate the relative importance of each of the factors. The relative importance of factors is beneficial when developing the project leanness score as it helps treat each factor according to the weight of its importance. For example, if the majority of experts agree that a certain factor rarely affects project performance, then it will not significantly affect the performance assessment of the company. Consequently, it will make a low impact on the score calculation leading to a more accurate scoring system.

3.3 Developing Project Leanness Score

The third stage of the research involves developing a project leanness score based on the responses retrieved in the expert-based survey. A database is created based on the responses collected and is used in order to apply statistical analysis. Such statistical analysis indicates which lean factors most directly affect construction projects. Hence, directing the emphasis of research to the factors that are important to focus on in later stages. Moreover, it also dictates that these lean factors need to be assigned higher weights in the project leanness score. By assigning factors different weights depending on their relative importance, one can ensure that the project leanness score accurately and realistically assesses companies' performance.

3.4 Benchmarking the Performance Score

Benchmarking is a comparative method that is used in the process of establishing an indicator that compares measured performance against practices in a certain field (Chandra, 2020). In this stage, a project-based survey is created. This survey targets as many construction companies as possible and they are asked to fill out questions related to their project performance. The data is collected directly from the teams working on the projects in order to ensure its credibility. Responses are then used to evaluate the overall performance of the
company based on the project leanness score developed in the previous stage. The resulting scores of the participating companies give an insight on the construction industry's overall quality and frequency of implementing lean principles. Having such database provides an overview on the industry's general performance. Where patterns in the industry's performance are identified through statistical methods and a project leanness benchmarking scale is established based on these patterns. The project leanness score together with the project leanness benchmark scale offer a holistic evaluation of companies' performance. Where companies would be able to know their scores which represent the overall rate of implementing lean principles in projects and would also be able to compare their performance to other companies in the industry based on the project leanness benchmarking scale.

3.5 Developing Performance Prediction Model

3.5.1. Background About Machine Learning techniques

Machine learning is a type of artificial intelligence that enables software applications to predict results accurately relying mainly on training algorithms that do not depend on explicit programming (Mitchell, 1997). This is done through using historical data as input to predict new output values. Machine learning is beneficial when solving complex prediction problems where the input data are complicated and do not have a clearly identifiable trend (Harrington, 2012). The reason being that the algorithms are trained to simulate human intelligence in learning the data. This is done through well established and extensively researched learning tasks that include, but are not limited to, classification, regression, ranking and clustering (Mohri et al. 2018). Where classification assigns pre-defined categories to each data item; it can be applied to any dataset that can be categorized into a finite number of categories. This can help in classifying things like documents, where machine learning algorithms classify them based on their topics (i.e.: sports, business, economics etc.). Regression tasks predict a numerical value for each item in the dataset based on predictor variables. The validity of regression models depends on the difference between actual and predicted values. That said, machine learning algorithms can perform linear and non-linear regression depending on the trend between the dependent and independent variables. Ranking orders the data set based on an established standard; a famous example of this task is ranking web pages for a search query from most relevant to least relevant. Lastly, clustering which partitions items into homogeneous regions. It is best used to analyze large data sets where data is divided based on a certain behavioral pattern. An example of that is social network analysis where algorithms

attempt to identify communities (clusters) within large groups of people (Mohri et al. 2018).

Machine learning algorithms are able to perform the above-mentioned learning tasks through learning scenarios, these scenarios vary based on the type of input data. There are three main types of learning scenarios; supervised learning, unsupervised learning and semi supervised learning (Sathya et al. 2013). Supervised learning is used when there is a set of pre-labeled examples available for use as training data. The model then learns the labeled data and makes predictions for the unlabeled data or, in other words, test data. This scenario is most commonly used in classification, regression, and ranking problems. On the other hand, the unsupervised learning scenario studies unclassified data and makes predictions based on trends in the data. This method is used in clustering problems. It should be noted that there is a limitation to unsupervised learning as the precision of the model cannot be accurately measured to evaluate its performance. The semi-supervised learning scenario acts as the middle ground between the supervised and the unsupervised learning. Where the data consist of labeled and unlabeled data, and the model makes predictions for the unlabeled data are rare or not easy to find (Sathya et al. 2013).

Each learning scenario is employed using certain techniques and algorithms. For example, linear regression, uses the slope formula to model the relationship between two or more variables. As seen in Figure 5, the linear regression equation depends on two main input variables, the dependent and independent variables. Where the independent variable is independent of other variables, and the dependent variable is the effect that is directly affected by the independent variable. Linear regression is best used when there is a linear relationship between the independent and the dependent variables. Among the advantages of using regression in a predictive model is that its algorithm is very simple to implement and interpret. However, it is important to note that the legitimacy of predictions using linear regression depends greatly on the quality and quantity of the data. This means that if the data has outliers, this will have a great impact on the regression and may lead to the model over-fitting (Schneider et al. 2010). The precision of the regression model depends on the calculated adjusted R^2 value of the model. The adjusted R^2 value, referred to as the correlation coefficient, represents the correlation between the dependent and independent variables (Schneider et al. 2010). The adjusted R^2 is a statistical measure that gives an indication on how much variation in the dependent variable of the model is explained by the independent variable (Schneider et al. 2010). The adjusted R^2 value is a number between zero and one, he closer the adjusted R^2 value

is to one, the higher the correlation between the variables, and therefore the more precise the predictive model will be (Schneider et al. 2010).



Figure 5: Linear regression equation (Schneider et al. 2010)

Supervised learning techniques, such as decision trees and neural networks, were studied for the purpose of this research. Simply explained, a decision tree is a diagram that helps define a course of action by displaying its statistical probability (Quinlan, 1986). The typical structure of a decision tree is shown in Figure 6; it consists of two elements, nodes and branches. Where nodes represent decisions and branches represent the possible events that can happen based on the decision. The most distant branches of the tree represent the end result of a given decision path and they are referred to as end nodes or leaves.



Figure 6: Decision tree structure (Magnimetrics, 2021)

There are two main types of decision trees, continuous variable decision trees and categorical variable decision trees; these types work best with non-linear data. Continuous variable decision trees are used when there is a continuous target variable. For example,

predicting income range based on continuous input variables such as age, gender, profession and others. Categorical variable decision trees, also referred to as classifier decision trees, are used when the end target is classified into known categories. In that case, there is only one outcome and its either true or false based on the pre-defined categories (Quinlan, 1986).

Another supervised learning technique is neural networks; where algorithms are built to simulate the structure of the human brain (Moselhi et al. 1991). These algorithms take in data, train themselves to recognize a pattern within these data and predict the output for a new set of similar data. The structure of a neural network consists of layers made up of several neurons or nodes. The first layer is typically the input layer, where it receives input data. Then, hidden layer(s) exist where their main function is to compute the network analysis. Lastly, the output layer predicts the final output. Neural networks are computed through an iterative process were information travel in forward and backward propagations (Moselhi et al. 1991). This process, as outlined in Figure 7, allows the neural network to train on the input data, predict the outcomes and compare prediction values with actual values; then, the outcome results are fed back to the network where another iteration is performed. This iterative process is repeated until the network converges to the least error.



Figure 7: Development cycle of a neural network (Moselhi et al. 1991)

The output of neurons in a neural network depends on their activation function. These are threshold functions that define the output of the neuron given a set of inputs. The most commonly used activation functions are logistic sigmoid, hyperbolic tangent (Tanh) and rectified linear activation (ReLU) (Sibi et al. 2013). The logistic sigmoid function takes input values and transfers them to a range of values that are between zero and one. The more negative the number is, the closer the output value will be to zero and vice versa for positive numbers. A value of zero represents an inactivated neuron and the value of one represents an activated neuron. The reason for such transformation is to trigger certain actions within the neural network where the outcome of the network is dictated based on these actions (Sibi et al. 2013) The Tanh function is similar to the sigmoid function; however, it transforms values to a range between -1 and 1 following the same reasoning as the one used in the sigmoid function. Not all activation functions take input values and transform them to a pre-defined range. In fact, the ReLU function takes input values and converts them to a maximum of either zero or the value of the input itself; where the more positive the neuron, the more activated it is (Sibi et al. 2013). It should be noted that the better the accuracy that the activation function yields, the more suitable it is for use in the model.

3.5.2. Previous Use of Machine Learning in the Construction Industry

Machine learning techniques have been utilized several times in applications relating to the construction industry. For example, Gondia et al. (2020) utilized categorical decision trees in building a model that predicts projects' delay through performing a project delay risk analysis. In addition, continuous variable decision trees were used by Desai and Joshi (2010) to predict construction labor productivity rates based on the project's surrounding area, location, temperature and labor's age group. Neural networks were also utilized in several construction related applications. In an extensive literature review, Doroshenko (2020) exhibited some cases where neural networks were applied in the construction industry. For example, they are implemented in tasks related to energy consumption of buildings. Where the network is used to predict the heating and cooling system load through the energy consumption of the building. Moreover, it studies the thermal insulation properties of the materials used in the building walls; giving an analysis of the building's energy consumption. Neural networks were also utilized in a model that was developed to predict construction material prices in a given month based on input data that consisted of the material prices of the previous month along with the average prices of the preceding year (Marzouk et al. 2013). Lastly, Elsayegh et al. (2021) used neural networks and support vector machines as predictive algorithms to develop a collaborative planning index.

3.5.3. Application

In light of the background discussed, the validity and rationality of having an accurate prediction model depends on two main things, strong data acquisition and adequate data analysis. The particular reason for that is that the stronger the database that the model is built upon, the more efficient and consistent it becomes. This stage involves utilizing different machine learning techniques to train the evaluation model to predict project's schedule and budget performance based on their implementation of lean factors. Using the project-based survey, correlations between lean factors implementation and budget and schedule underrun or overrun are made. This is done through trying several computational machine learning techniques for the purpose of building an accurate prediction model. The different machine learning techniques tried are linear regression, non-linear regression, decision trees and neural networks. The models' input variables are the lean factors' scores computed through the established scoring system while the models' output variables are set to be the predicted schedule and budget performance. The output variables' form varied once having a numeric representation and another time having a categorical classification. The algorithm that is able to accurately find trends in the data and correlates these trends to the project's schedule and budget performance is chosen. Consequently, developing a predictive model that is able to predict the project's schedule and budget performance based on the company's implementation of lean principles.

3.6 Validating the Prediction Model

In order to be confident in the legitimacy of the algorithm of the predictive model, a validation dataset is used to test it. This validation set consists of testing data that was not used when training the model in addition to hypothetical data representing extreme cases. The main aim of using the testing data is to validate that when new data is entered the model gives realistic predictions of project performance.

3.7 Developing a User-friendly Tool

A user-friendly tool is developed in order to display the outcomes of the company's assessment in a simple manner that is beneficial and informative to companies. The outcomes consist of the total score displayed on the project leanness benchmarking scale and a set of performance indicative charts. These charts show the stance of the company's performance as

compared to other companies in the database. This way, the model not only gives the user their score, but also provides them with a broader understanding of their performance as compared to other companies. Consequently, providing possible redirection of companies' way forward action plans based on how other companies are performing.

Chapter 4. Development of the Project Leanness Score

4.1 Identification of Factors Defining a Lean Construction Project

The first step in order to develop an evaluation model that fairly assesses companies' performance is to identify the most influential factors that affect construction projects. Such proper identification of these factors would allow the evaluation model to accurately assess the performance of a company based on the factors that, if present in a construction project, enhance the overall efficiency, morale, quality and several other aspects. It is important to identify such factors as it would ensure that the evaluation is being done based on realistic factors that can be applied in real life. The identification of these factors was achieved through an extensive literature review. The sources found provide an overview on the factors that are likely to be directly affected by the implementation of lean principles. For example, Hofacker et al. (2008) highlighted through their research that lean construction principles enhance client focus, improve communication between the key stakeholders of the project, improve the overall quality, provide for a better organization and information flow and provide room for continuous improvement (Hofacker et al. 2008). When looking at the factors mentioned in this paper, one can make a positive correlation between them and the core target of lean principles. This target includes working on systematically and effectively eliminating non-value adding activities; thus, setting a strict process that does not leave room for straying away from the nominal goal of the project. Hence, improving factors like client focus which creates a good relationship between the project parties and opens room for future collaborations. Improved client focus also comes as a direct result from improved communication between parties as discussed by Hofacker. This is due to the fact that lean construction techniques force people to adequately communicate consistently, allowing critical information to be known at the right time. This regulated communication is facilitated through daily huddle meetings and lookahead meetings. Such meetings allow for the key stakeholders to develop a relationship of trust, confidence and respect and provides early involvement of key stakeholders, which, in return, ensures there is a collective input on the project's plan, schedule and risk management. The improved overall quality, better organization and information flow, also comes naturally given the effective communication from within the same party and between the different parties. This allows for a better organizational structure, which eases information flow creating an efficient decision-making process, forming ownership over the project and effectively sharing lessons learned. All these initiatives encourage people to demonstrate continuous improvement whether through showing improved behavior or through innovating an improved work process, structure or technique.

Other factors were considered in another research paper conducted on construction projects in Egypt and it included coordination among parties, meeting schedule and budget targets and efficiency of equipment and resources used (Hamed, 2013). Construction projects are complex as they include several disciplines and activities that need to be integrated together. In order to fully integrate all disciplines, a high level of coordination needs to be implemented. Such coordination should be present between the different disciplines during the design stages, the different parties during the construction stage (contractor, subcontractor, consultant and employer) and between third parties such as material suppliers etc. Lean techniques facilitate such coordination through tools like the Last Planner System which creates a harmony between the different disciplines through pull planning and also helps in detecting design miscoordination at early stages. Another tool that helps in the overall project coordination is the Just-In-Time tool which helps in developing a precise procurement plan for the project and thus creating a smooth work process, eliminating overstocking and avoiding lost time due to unavailability of material. According to Hamed, effectively implementing lean techniques also helps in meeting project schedule and budget targets. This is due to the positive attributes that lean techniques, like the Last Planner System and Just In Time, contribute to minimizing overspending on unneeded materials and storage space, getting better deals when procuring large amounts of the same materials and reducing cost through value engineering. All these aspects, when monitored through a schedule control tool like primavera and checked regularly through schedule and cost accomplishment indicators like SPI and CPI, help in providing a mitigation plan for when there is slippage leading to the project meeting the schedule and budget target. Lastly, the paper mentioned that lean techniques contribute to the efficiency of equipment and resources. This is achieved through developing a site layout that minimizes transportation, unnecessary labor and equipment movement and strategic location of the needed facilities. Moreover, lean techniques include making sure human resources are located in positions where they can best exploit their technical skills, show leadership and commitment initiatives and demonstrate innovation. This can also be aided through workshops and trainings provided by the companies in order to enhance the overall staff efficiency.

Research by El-adaway et al. (2021) considered factors like design flexibility and facilitated contractual risks and disputes to strongly influence construction projects performance. Flexibility of design allows for less disruption caused by design stages. This can

help expedite the process of issuing shop drawings, procuring materials and facilitating the process of a change request or variation order. That said, balancing contractual risks in a project helps improve the overall project management. That way, the risk is not borne by one party leading to a raise in contingency and increasing chances of delays. If the contractual obligations are balanced, this will improve the project parties' relationship, decrease chances of disputes and create trust, confidence and respect.

As a result of a collaborative research effort between the University of Missouri for Science and Technology and The American University in Cairo, an extensive literature review was conducted to compile the aforementioned factors into a list and categorize them into six main categories. These categories are behavioral, communication, team, managerial, technological and contractual. Then, each of the factors was assigned to a category that relates to its topic resulting in a list of 27 factors that affect a construction project as seen in Table 6. It is worth mentioning that one cannot safely assume that the below factors are all equally important and influential to a construction project. Hence, in order to further assure that the evaluation model is precise, the factors were verified and weighted to know their relative importance through taking experts' opinions.

Category	Factor for Successful Implementation of Lean Tools	Reference
	A1. Adaptation or resistance to change	(Hamzeh et al. 2015)
A. Behavioral Category	A2. Leadership and commitment	(Mohan, S.B et al., 2005)
A. Benavioral Category	A3. Continuous improvement	(Salem, O. et al., 2005)
	A4. Trust, confidence and respect	(Ballard, G. et al., 1999)
	B1. Frequency of meetings	(Poppendieck, M., 2011)
B. Communication Category	B2. Sharing of lessons learned	(Farrar, J.M et al., 2006)
	B3. Early involvement of key stakeholders	(El-adaway et al. 2021)
	B4. Collective input in schedule development	(Abbasian-Hosseini, S. A et al., 2014)
	C1. Team motivation and incentives	(Albalkhy, W et al., 2021)
	C2. Orientation/workshops and training/education	(El-adaway et al. 2021)
C. Team category	C3. Project parties relationship	(Ballard, G. et al., 1999)
	C4. Competence of team	(Ballard, G. et al., 1999)
	C5. Sharing values and culture in team	(El-adaway et al. 2021)
	C6. Encouraging creativity and innovation	(Denerolle, S., 2018).
	C7. Team involvement and building	(Albalkhy, W et al., 2021)
	D1. Lean construction awareness and frequency of implementation	(H. Erol et al., 2017)
	D2. Value Engineering awareness and frequency of implementation	(Chien-Ho Ko et al., 2010)
D. Monogorial	D3. Risk Management awareness and frequency of implementation	(El-adaway et al. 2021)
Category	D4. Accuracy of schedule accomplishment indicators (SPI)	(Abdel Hamid et al., 2017)
	D5. Client focus	(Denerolle, S., 2018).
	D6. Problem solving and decision making	(El-adaway et al. 2021)
	D7. Flexibility of design	(Nani, G.,2016)
E. Technological	E1. Use of BIM	(Salem, O. et al., 2005)
Category	E2. Effectiveness of using a scheduling tool	(Farrar, J.M et al., 2006)
	F1. Procurement Plan	(El-Sawalhi et al., 2016)
F. Contractual Category	F2. Appropriateness of project delivery method	(El-adaway et al. 2021)
Category	F3. Risk balance in contractual obligations	(Poppendieck, M., 2011)

Table 6: List of factors that affect the performance of a construction project

4.2 Determining the Relative Importance of Factors

After identifying the factors, an expert-based survey was conducted for two main objectives, the first is to validate the choice of the factors and the second is to rate each factor in terms of its real-life applicability and overall significance in construction projects. The results of this survey then determined the weight of each factor. This weight indicates the relative importance of each of the 27 factors to the overall success of construction projects. Assigning such weights to each factor ensures that the scoring model is not treating all factors with equal importance. By doing that, the scoring model delivers a balanced output that fairly and accurately assesses the companies' performance in the project.

The expert-based survey comprised of questions targeting the 27 identified factors listed in Table 6. For each factor, every expert had to rate its importance in a construction project based on the Likert scale shown in Table 7. From the ratings provided, the relative importance of each factor within a category could be identified.

	1
Lean factors	
importance in a	Likert scale
construction project	
Not at all important	1
Low importance	2
Neutral	3
Important	4
Very important	5

Table 7: Expert-based survey Likert scale

In order to be able to reach the maximum number of people, the survey was distributed among connections who work in the construction industry in the USA and in Egypt. A link of the survey was posted on several professional groups on websites like LinkedIn in order to boost the reach of the survey beyond the circle of personal connections. The survey got a total of 71 responses, 53 of them were from American experts and 18 from Egyptian experts. The steps taken to assure that the survey data can be used as a reliable source to conduct the research were as follows. First, a quick check was done so as to make sure that the survey reached experts who represent the opinions of the three main parties to a construction project (consultants, contractors and employers). This is important because having input from the three parties contributes to the impartiality of the data collected. Indeed, the survey received responses from a total of 51 experts who work for contractors, 13 experts who work for consultants and 7 experts who work for employers. The below Figure 8 and Figure 9 demonstrate the category of respondents' distribution percentage of the American and Egyptian experts respectively.



Figure 8: Category of Respondents distribution for American experts



Figure 9: Category of Respondents distribution for Egyptian experts

The second check was done in order to validate that the people who took the survey have adequate years of experience that would authenticate their opinions. According to the Cambridge Handbook on Expertise and Expert Knowledge, a person is considered an expert in most fields after 10 years of experience (Ericsson et al. 2006). The average years of experience of the 53 American experts who took the survey was 25 years, while the average years of experience of the 18 Egyptians who took the survey was 9 years. Figure 10 below shows a box plot of how the years of experience of the survey respondents is dispersed. Since the average years of experience of experience of the 71 respondents was 21 years, which is well above 10 years, the

opinions expressed in the survey can be considered a dependable source to rely on. The last check performed was the Cronbach's Alpha Reliability Test, which is a statistical test that is performed in order to measure a survey's internal consistency especially when using a Likert scale. In other words, this test measures if the questions in the survey are reliably measured and whether or not people had the same understanding of the questions when answering them. This measure is done through the Cronbach's alpha value, which is calculated using Equation 1 where K is the total number of questions in the survey, Vi is the sum of variance in each question and V_t is the sum of variance of all questions (El-adaway et al. 2021). According to Tavakol et al. (2011) a Cronbach's alpha value above 0.7 is acceptable as it represents a reliable questionnaire that can be used. When calculated, as seen in Table 8, the Cronbach test for the expert-based survey gave an alpha value of 0.94 which meant that the survey is valid and that the data retrieved were suitable to be used in this research.

Equation 1: Cronbach's alpha value

$$\alpha = \frac{k}{k-1} * \left(\frac{1-\sum Vi}{\sum V_t}\right) = \frac{27}{27-1} * \left(\frac{1-23.6}{238.8}\right) = 0.94$$

Table 8: Cronbach alpha value calculations

		Sum of Variance	Sum of Variance
	Factors:	(V_i)	(V_t)
A. Behavioral	A1. Adaptation or resistance to change	0.87	72
Category	A2. Leadership and commitment	1.2	66
	A3. Continuous improvement	0.9	66
	A4. Trust, confidence and respect	0.8	64
ъ	B1. Frequency of meetings	2.1	69
B. Communication	B2. Sharing of lessons learned	0.5	72
Category	B3. Early involvement of key stakeholders	0.7	55
	B4. Collective input in schedule development	1.8	60
	C1. Team motivation and incentives	0.83	66
C Team category	C2. Orientation/workshops and	0.73	70
	training/education	0.51	
	C3. Project parties relationship	0.61	70
C. I call Category	C4. Competence of team	0.89	61
	C5. Sharing values and culture in team	0.84	20
	C6. Encouraging creativity and innovation	1	20
	C7. Team involvement and building	0.39	70
	D1. Lean construction awareness and frequency	1.4	74
	of implementation		
	D2. Value Engineering awareness and	0.45	70
D. Managerial	frequency of implementation		
Category	D3. Risk Management awareness and frequency	0.67	66
	of implementation	0.61	70
	D4. Accuracy of schedule accomplishment indicators (SPI)	0.61	12
C. Team category D. Managerial Category	 C3. Project parties relationship C4. Competence of team C5. Sharing values and culture in team C6. Encouraging creativity and innovation C7. Team involvement and building D1. Lean construction awareness and frequency of implementation D2. Value Engineering awareness and frequency of implementation D3. Risk Management awareness and frequency of implementation D4. Accuracy of schedule accomplishment indicators (SPI) 	0.81 0.89 0.84 1 0.39 1.4 0.45 0.67 0.61	70 61 20 20 70 74 70 66 72

	D5. Client focus	0.7	66
	D6. Problem solving and decision making	0.89	66
	D7. Flexibility of design	0.71	64
E. Technological	E1. Use of BIM	0.61	69
Category	E2. Effectiveness of using a scheduling tool	0.83	72
F. Contractual Category	F1. Procurement Plan	0.67	55
	F2. Appropriateness of project delivery method	0.91	60
	F3. Risk balance in contractual obligations	1	66
	Total	23.6	238.8



Figure 10: Box Plot demonstrating variation in years of experience

After validating the survey, the following steps were taken in order to determine the relative importance of each of the identified factors. First, the responses from the American experts were separated from the responses of the Egyptian experts. This was done in order to observe if there is a significant difference between experts' opinions who work on projects in the USA vs. expert's opinions who work on projects in Egypt. Then, expert ratings for the importance of each factor were listed and the average result of the responses received for each factor was taken as shown in Table 9. It is worth mentioning that the number of Americans who took the survey was almost three times the number of Egyptians. Hence, when comparing the factor averages presented in Table 9, it can be observed that the factor average for Egypt is generally higher than the factor average for USA. This is due to the variance in the sample size; USA being triple the sample size of Egypt. Therefore, when analyzing the data, one cannot simply draw a conclusion if opinions on the significance of a factor varied between the two countries just by comparing the average response for each factor as this would not be indicative.

	Fraterra	Factor average	Factor average
	Factors:	(USA)	(EG)
A. Behavioral	A1. Adaptation or resistance to change	2.85	3.72
Category	A2. Leadership and commitment	3.00	4.22
Cutegory	A3. Continuous improvement	2.82	3.89
	A4. Trust, confidence and respect	3.07	4.17
	Sum Category A	11.74	16.00
	B1. Frequency of meetings	2.56	3.28
В.	B2. Sharing of lessons learned	2.89	3.94
Communication	B3. Early involvement of key stakeholders	3.08	4.00
Category	B4. Collective input in schedule development	2.79	3.67
	Sum Category B	11.32	14.89
	C1. Team motivation and incentives	2.85	4.28
	C2. Orientation/workshops and		
	training/education	2.49	3.72
	C3. Project parties relationship	2.73	3.50
C. Team category	C4. Competence of team	2.96	3.80
	C5. Sharing values and culture in team	2.69	3.43
	C6. Encouraging creativity and innovation	2.85	3.33
	C7. Team involvement and building	2.88	3.43
	Sum Category C	19.45	25.50
	D1. Lean construction awareness and frequency		
	of implementation	2.50	3.56
	D2. Value Engineering awareness and		
D. Managerial	frequency of implementation	2.75	3.61
Category	D3. Risk Management awareness and frequency		2 - 2
	of implementation	2.74	3.78
	D4. Accuracy of schedule accomplishment	2.94	2 47
	indicators (SPI)	2.84	3.47

Table 9: Average factor ratings in USA and Egypt

	D5. Client focus	3.04	4.20
D6. Problem solving and decision making D7. Flexibility of design		3.01	2.90
		2.88	3.47
	Sum Category D	19.75	24.98
E. Technological	E1. Use of BIM	2.54	3.67
	E2. Effectiveness of using a scheduling tool	2.75	4.50
Category	Sum Category E	5.28	8.17
	F1. Procurement Plan	2.98	4.06
F. Contractual	F2. Appropriateness of project delivery method	2.88	4.03
Category	F3. Risk balance in contractual obligations	2.84	2.97
	Sum Category F	8.70	11.06

Consequently, in order to perform such comparison, two methods of analysis were done. First, the data were normalized in order to compare how experts from both countries rated the importance of each factor within its category. This was done by dividing the factor average by the sum of factor averages within the factor's category as seen in Table 10. The results showed that experts in USA and Egypt agreed on the order of importance of factors for three out of six of the categories. These categories being communication, technological and contractual categories. The identical opinions presented, gave an indication that there was a general agreement between the experts in both countries. This was also apparent in the behavioral category, despite the fact that the factor rankings were not identical, the variance in rank was not high to highlight a noteworthy difference in opinions. It can be concluded that the experts agreed on the ranking of 63% of the factors as only 10 factors out of the 27 had a difference in ranking that was higher than 1.

	Factors:	Factor weighted average (USA)	Factor weighted average (EG)	Factor rank within category (USA)	Factor rank within category (EG)	Variance in rank
A. Behavioral Category	A1. Adaptation or resistance to change	24.28	23.26	3	4	1
	A2. Leadership and commitment	25.56	26.39	2	1	1
	A3. Continuous improvement	24.04	24.31	4	3	1
	A4. Trust, confidence and respect	26.13	26.04	1	2	1
	Sum Category A	100	100	-	-	-
	B1. Frequency of meetings	22.58	22.01	4	4	-
	B2. Sharing of lessons learned	25.5	26.49	2	2	-
B. Communication	B3. Early involvement of key stakeholders	27.25	26.87	1	1	-
Category	B4. Collective input in schedule development	24.67	24.63	3	3	-
	Sum Category B	100	100	-	-	-
C. Team category	C1. Team motivation and incentives	14.65	16.78	3	1	2
	C2. Orientation/workshops and training/education	12.81	14.6	7	3	4
	C3. Project parties relationship	14.02	13.73	5	4	1
	C4. Competence of team	15.23	14.9	1	2	1
	C5. Sharing values and culture in team	13.83	13.46	6	6	-
	C6. Encouraging creativity and innovation	14.65	13.07	4	7	3
	C7. Team involvement and building	14.81	13.46	2	5	3
	Sum Category C	100	100	-	-	-
	D1. Lean construction awareness and frequency of implementation	12.66	14.23	7	4	3
	D2. Value Engineering awareness and frequency of implementation	13.94	14.46	5	3	2
D. Managerial	D3. Risk Management awareness and frequency of implementation	13.85	15.12	6	2	4
Category	D4. Accuracy of schedule accomplishment indicators (SPI)	14.37	13.88	4	6	2
	D5. Client focus	15.38	16.81	1	1	-
	D6. Problem solving and decision making	15.23	11.61	2	7	5
	D7. Flexibility of design	14.57	13.88	3	5	2
	Sum Category D	100	100	-	-	-
	E1. Use of BIM	48.04	44.9	2	2	-
E. Technological Category	E2. Effectiveness of using a scheduling tool	51.96	55.1	1	1	-
	Sum Category E	100	100	-	-	-
F. Contractual	F1. Procurement Plan	34.27	36.68	1	1	
Category	F2. Appropriateness of project	33.08	36.48	2	2	-

Table 10: Factor weighted average and factor rank within category comparison Image: Comparison

delivery method					
F3. Risk balance in contractual obligations	32.65	26.83	3	3	-
Sum Category F	100	100	-	-	-

The second step for analysis was done on the category level to know the order of importance of each category with respect to other categories. The same normalization logic was followed, the sum of factor averages for all factors within a category was divided by the sum of all the factor averages from Table 9. This gave the percentage contribution of each category as compared to all six categories. Additionally, it indicated the order of importance of each category. As seen in Figure 11, the six categories were ranked identically by the experts from both countries with the exception of the first category. The American experts ranked the most important category to be the managerial category while the Egyptian experts ranked it to be team category. However, since the variance in the percentage distribution is 1%, the difference in ranking can be associated to the different sample sizes. To conclude this comparison, it can be settled that there was no major difference between experts' opinions. The results showed that there was a general agreement on which factors were more important than others. Additionally, the variances in factors that were not identical were small which can be explained by either difference in personal opinions or again linked to the variation in sample size. Henceforth proving that the identified factors are not only applicable to all construction projects but also their level of influence on the projects will not vary despite the project's location. Subsequently, the factor averages obtained in Table 9 will hereinafter be used as the base reference that dictates the relative importance of factors when developing the scoring system.



Figure 11: Ranked categories comparison based on percentage distribution

4.3 Developing Project Leanness Score

The analysis carried out previously gave reassurance that the factors chosen for the survey correctly give insight into a construction project. Moreover, it indicated that these factors, when implemented correctly, will enhance the project's overall efficiency. Since both surveys gave almost the same answers, the factor average of the USA survey was used in calculating the project leanness score. This is due to the fact that the USA survey sample size was larger, Americans were more familiar with lean principles and the average years of experience was higher than that of Egypt. The factor averages would then serve as the benchmark for calculating the performance score. The project leanness score developed follows a 100-point scale similar to the quality rating model developed by Hofacker (2008). The score was built to reflect the 5-point performance Likert scale presented in Table 11; where the performance of the company is measured according to its overall implementation of the identified lean factors. The total project score out of 100 would then indicate the overall frequency and quality of implementing lean factors in the project as outlined on the project leanness score scale seen in Figure 12. The score was calculated by multiplying the factor averages by 1 to get the minimum score and by 5 to get the maximum score as outlined in

Table 12. Then, the minimum and maximum scores were normalized by getting the score slope in order to fit the 100-point scale using

Equation 2. That way, theoretically speaking, if a company very frequently implements all 27 lean factors, it would score 5 on the Likert scale making its total score 100 as seen in Equation 3.

Factors:	1	2	3	4	5
	0 to 20% of	20 to 40%	40 to 60% of	60 to 80%	80 to 100%
	decision	of decision	decision	of decision	of decision
A doutation on maintained to show as	makers are	makers are	makers are	makers are	makers are
Adaptation of resistance to change	flexible to	flexible to	flexible to	flexible to	flexible to
	adapt to	adapt to	adapt to	adapt to	adapt to
	change	change	change	change	change
		Somowhat	Augrago	Somewhat	Extremely
	Extremely low	Somewhat	Average	high sense	high sense
I adapthin and commitment	sense of	low selise of	sellse of	of	of
Leadership and communent	leadership and	readership	and	leadership	leadership
	commitment	alla	alla	and	and
		communent	communent	commitment	commitment
		20 to 40%		60 to 80%	80 to 100%
	0 to 20% of	of project	40 to 60% of	of project	of project
	project	employees	project	employees	employees
Continuous improvement	employees	show efforts	employees	show efforts	show efforts
Continuous improvement	show efforts in	in	show efforts	in	in
	continuous	continuous	in continuous	continuous	continuous
	improvement	improvemen	improvement	improvemen	improvemen
		t		t	t
	Extromaly low	Somewhat	Augrago	Somewhat	Extremely
Trust confidence and respect	sense of trust	low sense of	sense of trust	high sense	high sense
Trust confidence and respect		trust and		of trust and	of trust and
	and respect	respect	and respect	respect	respect
Fraguency of meetings	Once every	Biwaakhy	Weekhy	More than	Fyeryday
Frequency of meetings	month	DIWEEKIY	WEEKIY	once a week	Everyday
Sharing of lessons learned	No sharing	Paraly	Occasionally	Frequently	Very
Sharing of lessons learned	NO sharing	Karery	Occasionally	Trequentry	frequently
	Extremely low	Somewhat	Average	Somewhat	Extremely
Early involvement of key stakeholders	involvement	low	involvement	high	high
	mvorvement	involvement	mvorvement	involvement	involvement
Collective input in schedule	Extremely low	Somewhat	Average input	Somewhat	Extremely
development	input	low input	Average input	high input	high input
Team motivation and incentives	Very rarely	Rarely	Occasionally	Frequently	Very
Team motivation and meentives	Very farely	Karery	Occasionally	Trequentry	Frequently
Orientation/workshops and	Never	Once every	Twice a year	Once every	Once every
training/education	INCVCI	year	I wiec a year	quarter	two months
Project parties relationship	Very low	Low	Medium	High	Very high
Competence of team	Very low	Low	Medium	High	Very high
sharing values and culture in team	Very low	Low	Medium	High	Very high
Encouraging creativity and innovation	Very low	Low	Medium	High	Very high
Toom involvement and building	Extromaly low	Somewhat	Augrage	Somewhat	Extremely
ream myorvement and bunding	Extremely IOW	low	Avelage	high	high

Table 11: Lean factors frequency and quality Likert scale representation

Lean construction awareness and frequency of implementation	Not aware of lean construction	Slightly aware with no adoption of lean Principles	Slightly aware with low implementati on	Highly aware with some attempts to implement lean Principles	Highly aware of lean construction with regular implementat ion
Value Engineering awareness and frequency of implementation	Not aware of value engineering	Aware but never used in the project	Some attempts in value engineering were made but not applied	Applied once	Applied several times
Risk Management awareness and frequency of implementation	There is no risk management strategy	There is a risk managemen t plan but it is not used	There is a risk management plan but it is not efficient	There is a risk managemen t plan and it is sometimes used	There is a risk managemen t plan and it is frequently used
Accuracy of schedule accomplishment indicators (SPI)	Extremely inaccurate	Somewhat inaccurate	Neutral	Somewhat accurate	Extremely accurate
Client focus	Extremely low	Somewhat low	Average	Somewhat high	Extremely high
Problem solving and decision making	0 to 20% of project employees demonstrate problem solving and decision- making skills	20 to 40% of project employees demonstrate problem solving and decision- making skills	40 to 60% of project employees demonstrate problem solving and decision- making skills	60 to 80% of project employees demonstrate problem solving and decision- making skills	80 to 100% of project employees demonstrate problem solving and decision- making skills
Flexibility of design	Extremely inflexible	Somewhat inflexible	Neutral	Somewhat flexible	Extremely flexible and well- coordinated
BIM	Not aware of BIM technology	Aware but BIM technology is not used	BIM technology is used only to fulfill a contract requirement	BIM technology is used in only one trade (structure, architecture or MEP)	BIM technology is used in multiple trades (structure, architecture and MEP)
Effectiveness of using a scheduling	Extremely	Somewhat	Neutral	Somewhat	Extremely
Procurement Plan	There is no procurement plan	There is a procurement plan but it is not used	There is a procurement plan but it is not efficient	There is a procurement plan and it is used sometimes	There is a procurement plan and it is used frequently
repropriateness of project delivery	Extremely	Somewhat	reutial	Somewhat	LAUCHICIY

method	inappropriate	inappropriat		appropriate	appropriate
		e			
Pick balance in contractual obligations	Extremely	Somewhat	Noutrol	Somewhat	Extremely
Kisk balance in contractual obligations	imbalanced	imbalanced	Incutat	balanced	balanced



Figure 12: Project leanness score showing overall frequency of implementing lean factors

Table 12: Minimum and maximum scores

	Factors:	Factor average	Minimum Score	Maximum	
	Factors:	(x_i)	$= x_i * 1$	Score = $x_i * 5$	
	A1. Adaptation or resistance to change	2.85	2.85	14.25	
A. Behavioral	A2. Leadership and commitment	3.00	3.00	15	
Category	A3. Continuous improvement	2.82	2.82	14.1	
	A4. Trust, confidence and respect	3.07	3.07	15.35	
	Sum Category A	11.74	11.74	58.7	
	B1. Frequency of meetings	2.56	2.56	12.8	
B.	B2. Sharing of lessons learned	2.89	2.89	14.45	
Communication	B3. Early involvement of key stakeholders	3.08	3.08	15.4	
Category	B4. Collective input in schedule development	2.79	2.79	13.95	
	Sum Category B	11.32	11.32	56.6	
	C1. Team motivation and incentives	2.85	2.85	14.25	
	C2. Orientation/workshops and training/education 2.49		2.49	12.45	
	C3. Project parties relationship	2.73	2.73	13.65	
C. Team	C4. Competence of team	2.96	2.96	14.8	
category	C5. Sharing values and culture in team	2.69	2.69	13.45	
	C6. Encouraging creativity and innovation	2.85	2.85	14.25	
	C7. Team involvement and building	2.88	2.88	14.4	
	Sum Category C	19.45	19.45	97.25	
	D1. Lean construction awareness and frequency	2.50	2.50	12.5	
	of implementation	2.30	2.30	12.3	
	D2. Value Engineering awareness and	2.75	2.75	13.75	
	frequency of implementation				
	D3. Risk Management awareness and frequency of implementation	2.74	2.74	13.7	
D. Managerial	D4 Accuracy of schedule accomplishment				
Category	indicators (SPI)	2.84	2.84	14.2	
	D5. Client focus	3.04	3.04	15.2	
	D6. Problem solving and decision making	3.01	3.01	15.05	
	D7. Flexibility of design	2.88	2.88	14.4	
	Sum Category D	19.75	19.75	98.75	
E.	E1. Use of BIM	2.54	2.54	12.7	
Technological	E2. Effectiveness of using a scheduling tool	2.75	2.75	13.75	
Category	Sum Category E	5.28	5.28	26.4	
	F1. Procurement Plan	2.98	2.98	14.9	
F. Contractual	F2. Appropriateness of project delivery method	2.88	2.88	14.4	
Category	F3. Risk balance in contractual obligations	2.84	2.84	14.2	
	Sum Category F	8.70	8.70	43.5	
	Sum of all categories	76.25	76.25	381.2	

Equation 2: Total leanness score slope equation

 $Leanness \ score \ slope = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ F} \Sigma x_i * \max of \ Likert \ Scale - \sum_{i=Category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scale} = \frac{100}{\sum_{i=category\ A} \Sigma x_i * \min of \ Likert \ Scal$

$$\frac{100}{381.2 - 76.25} = 0.33$$

Equation 3: Total leanness score calculation method

Leanness score

$$= \left(\sum_{j=Category\ A}^{Category\ F} P_{j} * \sum_{i=Category\ F}^{Category\ F} x_{i} - \sum_{i=Category\ A}^{Category\ F} x_{i} * \min\ of\ likert\ scale\right)$$

$$*\ leanness\ score\ slope$$

- Where P_i is the company's self-rated lean factor implementation frequency based on the Likert scale.

The total score gives an indication on how frequently the company is applying lean factors holistically. However, in order to facilitate the process of arranging an action plan to improve performance, a more detailed analysis was done. This analysis dissects the company's score with respect to the six lean categories. To do that, a category score slope and a category total score were calculated for each of the six categories as seen in Equation 4 through Equation 15. That way, the scoring model would be able to highlight areas of weakness and strength for companies based on their highest and lowest scoring categories. Thus, enabling companies to lay out a strategic plan for how they want to move forward in their projects.

Equation 4: Behavioral category slope equation

Behavioral Category score slope

100

$$= \frac{F_{actor A4}\Sigma x_{i} * max of Likert Scale}{F_{actor A1}\Sigma x_{i} * min of Likert Scale} = \frac{100}{58.7 - 11.74} = 2.13$$

Equation 5: Behavioral category score calculation method

Behavioral category total score

$$= (\sum_{j=Factor A1}^{Factor A4} P_j * \sum_{i=Factor A1}^{Factor A4} x_i - \sum_{i=Factor A1}^{Factor A4} x_i * \min of \ likert \ scale)$$

* Behavioral category score slope

Equation 6: Communication category slope equation

Communication Category score slope

$$= \frac{100}{\frac{Factor B4}{Factor B1}\Sigma x_{i} * max of Likert Scale} - \frac{Factor B4}{Factor B1}\Sigma x_{i} * min of Likert Scale}$$
$$= \frac{100}{56.6 - 11.32} = 2.2$$

Equation 7: Communication category score calculation method

Communication category total score

$$= \left(\sum_{j=Factor B1}^{Factor B4} P_j * \sum_{i=Factor B1}^{Factor B4} x_i - \sum_{i=Factor B1}^{Factor B4} x_i * \min of \ likert \ scale\right)$$

* Communication category score slope

Equation 8: Team category slope equation

Team Category score slope

$$= \frac{100}{\substack{Factor C7\\i=Factor C1}\Sigma x_i * max of Likert Scale} - \substack{Factor C7\\i=Factor C1}\Sigma x_i * min of Likert Scale}$$
$$= \frac{100}{97.25 - 19.45} = 1.3$$

Equation 9: Team category score calculation method

Team category total score



Equation 10: Managerial category slope equation

Managerial Category score slope

$$= \frac{100}{\frac{Factor D7}{i=Factor D1}\Sigma x_i * max of Likert Scale} - \frac{Factor D7}{i=Factor D1}\Sigma x_i * min of Likert Scale}$$
$$= \frac{100}{98.75 - 19.75} = 1.26$$

Equation 11: Managerial category score calculation method

Managerial category total score

$$= (\sum_{j=Factor D1}^{Factor D7} P_j * \sum_{i=Factor D1}^{Factor D7} x_i - \sum_{i=Factor D1}^{Factor D7} x_i * \min of \ likert \ scale)$$

* Managerial category score slope

Equation 12: Technological category slope equation

Technological Category score slope

$$= \frac{100}{\frac{Factor E_2}{Factor E_1}\Sigma x_i * max of Likert Scale} - \frac{Factor E_2}{Factor E_1}\Sigma x_i * min of Likert Scale}$$
$$= \frac{100}{26.4 - 5.28} = 4.73$$

100

Equation 13: Technological category score calculation method

Technological category total score

$$= \left(\sum_{j=Factor E1}^{Factor E2} P_j * \sum_{i=Factor E1}^{Factor E2} x_i - \sum_{i=Factor E1}^{Factor E2} x_i * \min of \ likert \ scale\right)$$

* Technological category score slope

Equation 14: Contractual category slope equation

Contractual Category score slope

$$= \frac{100}{\substack{Factor F_{3} \sum x_{i} * max \text{ of Likert Scale } - \frac{Factor F_{3} \sum x_{i} * min \text{ of Likert Scale}}{i=Factor F_{1} \sum x_{i} * min \text{ of Likert Scale}}}$$
$$= \frac{100}{43.5 - 8.7} = 2.87$$

Equation 15: Contractual category score calculation method

Contractual category total score

$$= (\sum_{j=Factor \ F1}^{Factor \ F3} P_j * \sum_{i=Factor \ F1}^{Factor \ F3} x_i - \sum_{i=Factor \ E1}^{Factor \ F3} x_i * \min of \ likert \ scale) \\
* Contractual \ category \ score \ slope$$

4.3.1. Example on Calculating Project Leanness Score for a Hypothetical Project

To further illustrate how a company's performance score is calculated using the project leanness score equation, take the hypothetical case of XYZ Company as an example. First, XYZ Company will participate in a self-rating survey where it will rate its project performance in the 27 lean factors. The rating of the factors is done based on the aforementioned lean factors Likert scale. The self-rating scores of XYZ Company would be as shown in Table 13.

A. Behavioral Category	Factors:	Factor Averages (x_i)	XYZ Company (P _i)	Factor score $(x_i * P_j)$
	A1. Adaptation or resistance to change	2.85	2	5.7
	A2. Leadership and commitment	3	4	12.0
	A3. Continuous improvement	2.82	5	14.1
	A4. Trust, confidence and respect	3.07	4	12.3
	Sum Category A	11.74	15	44.1
B. Communication Category	B1. Frequency of meetings	2.56	3	7.7
	B2. Sharing of lessons learned	2.89	3	8.7
	B3. Early involvement of key stakeholders	3.08	4	12.3
	B4. Collective input in schedule development	2.79	4	11.2
	Sum Category B	11.32	14	39.8
C. Team category	C1. Team motivation and incentives	2.85	3	8.6
	C2. Orientation/workshops and training/education	2.49	4	10.0
	C3. Project parties relationship	2.73	3	8.2
	C4. Competence of team	2.96	3	8.9
	C5. Sharing values and culture in team	2.69	3	8.1
	C6. Encouraging creativity and innovation	2.85	4	11.4
	C7. Team involvement and building	2.88	4	11.5
	Sum Category C	19.45	24	66.6
D. Managerial Category	D1. Lean construction awareness and frequency of implementation	2.5	4	10.0
	D2. Value Engineering awareness and frequency of implementation	2.75	5	13.8
	D3. Risk Management awareness and frequency of implementation	2.74	4	11.0
	D4. Accuracy of schedule accomplishment indicators (SPI)	2.84	4	11.4
	D5. Client focus	3.04	4	12.2
	D6. Problem solving and decision making	3.01	2	6.0
	D7. Flexibility of design	2.88	3	8.6
	Sum Category D	19.76	26	72.9
E.	E1. Use of BIM	2.54	4	10.2

Table 13: XYZ Company self-ratings

Technological Category	E2. Effectiveness of using a scheduling tool	2.75	5	13.8
	Sum Category E	5.29	9	23.9
F. Contractual Category	F1. Procurement Plan	2.98	4	11.9
	F2. Appropriateness of project delivery method	2.88	3	8.6
	F3. Risk balance in contractual obligations	2.84	3	8.5
	Sum Category F	8.7	10	29.1
Sum of all categories		76.25	76	276.4

To calculate the total score for XYZ Company, Equation 3 would be utilized as follows

Leanness score

 $= (\sum_{\substack{j=Category\ F}\\ * \ leanness\ score\ slope} \sum_{i=Category\ A}^{Category\ F} x_i - \sum_{\substack{i=Category\ A}\\ * \ leanness\ score\ slope} \sum_{i=Category\ A}^{Category\ F} x_i * min\ of\ likert\ scale)$

Hence, the total score for XYZ Company will be 66 points out of 100. This means that XYZ Company moderately implements the lean factors based on the project leanness score established. To further dissect XYZ's performance in the project, one can calculate the category scores for each of the six categories using the established equations. Doing that allows for a closer inspection of the company's performance in the project through assessing the lowest performing categories and setting a way forward plan for performance to pick up. Below are the calculated category scores out of 100 for XYZ Company.

 $\begin{aligned} & \text{Behavioral Category score} = \\ & = (\sum_{j=Factor A1}^{Factor A4} P_j * \sum_{i=Factor A1}^{Factor A4} x_i - \sum_{i=Factor A1}^{Factor A4} x_i * \min of \ likert \ scale) \\ & * \ Behavioral \ category \ score \ slope \ = \ (44.1 - 11.74) * 2.13 = 69 \\ & \text{Communication Category score} = \\ & = (\sum_{j=Factor B4}^{Factor B4} P_j * \sum_{i=Factor B4}^{Factor B4} x_i - \sum_{i=Factor B4}^{Factor B4} x_i * \min of \ likert \ scale) \\ & * \ Communication \ category \ score \ slope \ = \ (39.8 - 11.32) * 2.2 = 62 \\ & \text{Team Category score} = \\ & = (\sum_{j=Factor C1}^{Factor C7} P_j * \sum_{i=Factor C1}^{Factor C7} x_i - \sum_{i=Factor C1}^{Factor C7} x_i * \min of \ likert \ scale) \\ & * \ Team \ category \ score \ slope \ = \ (66.6 - 19.45) * 1.3 = 61 \end{aligned}$

Managerial Category score =

$$= (\sum_{j=Factor D1}^{Factor D7} P_j * \sum_{i=Factor D1}^{Factor D7} x_i - \sum_{i=Factor D1}^{Factor D7} x_i * min of likert scale)$$

* Managerial category score slope = (72.9 - 19.76) * 1.26 = 67

Technological Category score =

$$= \left(\sum_{j=Factor E1}^{Factor E2} P_j * \sum_{i=Factor E1}^{Factor E2} x_i - \sum_{i=Factor E1}^{Factor E2} x_i * min \, of \, likert \, scale\right)$$

* *Technological category score slope* = (23.9 - 5.29) * 4.73 = 88

Contractual Category score =

$$= \left(\sum_{j=Factor \ F1}^{Factor \ F3} P_{j} * \sum_{i=Factor \ F1}^{Factor \ F3} x_{i} - \sum_{i=Factor \ F1}^{Factor \ F3} x_{i} * min \ of \ likert \ scale\right)$$

* Contractual category score slope = (29.1 - 8.7) * 2.87 = 59

The calculated category scores show that XYZ Company's weakest performing area is the contractual category and its strongest performing area is the technological category. Consequently, XYZ Company can use the category scores in setting action plans to further improve the company's implementation of lean principles. A more detailed evaluation of XYZ Company can be done through comparing its performance scores to other companies' performance scores. That way, XYZ Company can not only asses it's performance against itself, but also against other companies in the industry. In order to do that, a project-based survey was created.

4.4 Data Collection – Project-Based Survey

After developing the scoring system, a project-based survey was created in order to gather information on industry performance in construction projects. The survey aimed to make the respondent self-rate their companies' performance in a specific project. To be able to gather the widest variety of projects, no selection criteria were applied. This means that the survey could take responses from people who work for contractors, consultants or employers on projects that were either completed or ongoing, in or out of Egypt and all project types (residential, offices, bridges etc.). The survey was divided into two sections: project information and lean factors. The project information section focused on the general data about the project. It collected information such as the company's role in the project, its current status (completed or ongoing), its type, the planned and expected/actual duration, and finally the planned and expected/actual budget. After entering the project's information, the respondents were directed to the second section of the survey which is the lean factors section. In this section, they were asked to rate the company's performance in each of the 27 lean factors. The rating was also done on a 5-point Likert scale with 1 being the lowest rating and 5 being the highest. The survey questions can be referred to in Table 11.

A total of 30 responses were collected through the survey; each response representing and describing a different project. Projects collected were of 10 distinct types with the majority of them being residential - the distribution of project types is displayed in Figure 13. The variety of projects guarantees that the scoring system is inclusive of several kinds of projects. This inclusivity broadens the database upon which the scores are calculated; thus, improving the chances of correctly predicting scores for future users. Moreover, the projects had different statuses, 30% of which were completed and 70% were still ongoing, similarly making the database comprehensive of both cases. The survey responses also included projects where the company was either working as the consultant, contractor or employer as per Figure 14, representing all major roles in a construction project. Aside from the all-inclusive case representation, the preliminary analysis of the data showed that all different project statuses were depicted. This means that the data contained projects that belonged to one of four categories: early/on time and on/under budget, early/on time and above budget, delayed and on/under budget or delayed and above budget. The Venn diagrams in Figure 15 show the data distribution demonstrating the projects' status in terms of their standpoint on schedule and budget progress. The aforementioned further emphasizes the extensive range of the database documented through the responses collected. Thus, pushing forward to the successive part of the research, which is finding a correlation between lean factors and project performance through data analysis.



Figure 13: Distribution of project types



Figure 14: Company role in project



4.5 Benchmarking the Performance Score

To perform data analysis, the first step was to calculate the category scores and total score for each project as per the scoring system established in section 4.3 of the research. The resulting category scores and total score of the 30 projects in the database are shown in Figure 16 below. From the box plots, one can observe that the industry's performance level varied from one category to the other. The higher the variability in performance level, the larger the height of the box plot. In that case, the category with the most variability in performance was the technological category. Conversely, the category with least variability was the managerial category. Additionally, it should be noted that the communication category was the weakest performing category scored 69.5 out of 100. This indicates a general area of weakness in communication among all project teams for the 30 projects in the database. On the other hand, the technology category had a wide range of performance levels, however the majority of projects scored high on this category indicating a general area of strength.



Figure 16: Box plot showing projects' category and total scores

To be able to properly asses future users' input data, the database for category scores and total scores were divided into six quartiles using the quartiles established in the box plots as seen in figure Figure 17 through Figure 23 below. The established leanness benchmarking scale helps in providing a more accurate and fair performance assessment as it uses the industry performance as the datum of the assessment. Hence, giving the user a complete assessment that consists of two main insights. The first is the total score which represents the company's overall quality and frequency of implementing lean factors in the project. The second is benchmarking the project's category and total scores as compared to other companies in the field. The benchmarking scales give the user a deeper understanding of what the achieved scores mean as compared to the overall industry performance. For example, if a user scored 57 out of 100 in the contractual category, they may be compelled to think that this score is average so they do not need to set an action plan to improve in this category. However, the contractual category benchmarking scale would show the user that a score of 57 is actually considered poor performance as compared to other companies in the industry. Therefore, spotting a light on weak performance areas that need improvements.



Figure 17: Behavioral Category leanness Benchmarking scale



Figure 18: Communication Category leanness Benchmarking scale



Figure 19: Team Category leanness Benchmarking Scale



Figure 20: Managerial Category leanness Benchmarking Scale



Figure 21: Technological Category leanness Benchmarking Scale



Figure 22: Contractual Category leanness Benchmarking Scale



Figure 23: Project Leanness Benchmarking Scale
Chapter 5. Developing Performance Prediction Model

5.1 Descriptive Statistics

In an effort to establish a correlation between scores and project performance, the percentages of schedule and budget variance were calculated and the project status was derived from these percentages as seen from

Table 14. As an initial attempt in finding a correlation between lean factors and project performance, a visual inspection was done to check if there is a connection between scores and schedule variance. The trendline of the scatter plot in Figure 24 shows a general pattern that the higher the lean factor score is, the lower the schedule variance. This is also apparent from the data analysis presented in Table 15 as the average schedule variance decreased when the score range increased. Another important observation was that the variance range decreased by almost 30% as the score increased. Meaning that the better the company's implementation of lean factors, the more persistent its performance is and accordingly the less the deviation from the planned duration of the project. As for the correlation between total score and budget variance, there is no obvious pattern that could be identified solely through visual inspection as displayed in Figure 25. Hence, prompting a more profound look into the data through machine learning algorithms.

Ducient	Total score out of	Schedule Variance	Budget Variance	
Project	100	(%)	(%)	Status
1	49	-13%	20%	Early/on time and above budget
2	58	25%	7%	Delayed and above budget
3	53	1%	-2%	Delayed and on/under budget
4	56	17%	-14%	Delayed and on/under budget
5	66	33%	0%	Delayed and on/under budget
6	69	10%	0%	Delayed and on/under budget
7	53	1%	-2%	Delayed and on/under budget
8	67	1%	3%	Delayed and above budget
9	24	100%	6%	Delayed and above budget
10	56	8%	35%	Delayed and above budget
11	45	25%	0%	Delayed and on/under budget
12	80	0%	-8%	Early/on time and on/under budget
13	48	16%	0%	Delayed and above budget
14	52	40%	21%	Delayed and above budget
15	62	17%	18%	Delayed and above budget
16	39	30%	1%	Delayed and above budget
17	42	29%	5%	Delayed and above budget

Table 14: Projects' score and status

18	76	-3%	3%	Early/on time and above budget
19	47	0%	0%	Early/on time and on/under budget
20	50	-1%	-8%	Early/on time and on/under budget
21	75	5%	1%	Delayed and above budget
22	66	18%	-2%	Delayed and on/under budget
23	59	7%	9%	Delayed and above budget
24	48	-65%	1%	Early/on time and above budget
25	57	31%	-18%	Delayed and on/under budget
26	60	-20%	-7%	Early/on time and on/under budget
27	74	12%	10%	Delayed and above budget
28	52	10%	0%	Delayed and on/under budget
29	81	-4%	-5%	Early/on time and on/under budget
30	80	-10%	-3%	Early/on time and on/under budget



Figure 24: Relationship between total score and schedule variance

Table 15: Data analysis for schedule variance vs. total score

	Schedule Variance (%)			Variance	No. of	
Score	Min	Max	Avg.	Range (Max- Min)	projects	
<40		Not enough data				
40-60	-20	40	12.1	60	17	
60-80	-9.6 32 7.1 41.6				11	
>80		1				



Figure 25: Relationship between total score and budget variance

5.2 Machine Learning Algorithms

5.2.1. Numerical Analysis

5.2.1.1. Linear Regression

To further understand the correlation between lean factors and project performance, a closer look into the projects was required. First, a breakdown of the total score was done by calculating the category scores to get a deeper understanding of the project's performance. Dissecting the total score was done for two main aims; a) to observe if a certain lean factor category was more influential in affecting project performance than others and b) to see if an

equation can be developed to numerically estimate project duration and budget. The score breakdown, presented in Table 16, was used to calculate linear correlation. The results displayed in Table 17 show that the variables seem to have a rather weak linear relationship, especially with the schedule and budget variables.

	Behavioral		Team	Managerial		Contractual	
	category	Communication	category	category	Technological	category	Total
	score out of	category score	score out	score out of	category score	score out of	score out
Project	100	out of 100	of 100	100	out of 100	100	of 100
1	44	63	25	61	26	75	49
2	82	43	58	56	39	58	58
3	50	49	47	58	52	67	53
4	32	50	54	57	75	84	56
5	69	63	61	67	88	59	66
6	39	69	71	78	52	92	69
7	50	49	47	58	52	67	53
8	81	43	68	57	100	75	67
9	12	33	15	24	52	33	24
10	68	57	57	54	52	42	56
11	50	31	43	47	100	25	45
12	81	68	89	79	100	67	80
13	50	17	58	51	39	59	48
14	39	43	54	51	52	84	52
15	81	51	64	51	75	67	62
16	45	30	50	33	39	33	39
17	57	24	57	33	52	25	42
18	63	63	89	86	52	75	76
19	31	39	46	51	52	67	47
20	69	51	58	37	39	42	50
21	94	62	73	76	52	84	75
22	69	56	65	69	39	84	66
23	56	44	65	55	63	75	59
24	44	31	50	50	37	75	48
25	63	49	57	47	100	59	57
26	75	69	75	37	39	59	60
27	63	69	89	66	76	76	74
28	26	31	49	54	87	92	52
29	69	68	93	76	100	92	81
30	75	61	78	83	100	92	80

Table 16: Project score breakdown

							Total		
	Behavioral	Communication		Managerial	Technological	Contractual	score out	Schedule	Budget
Variable	category	category	Team category	category	category	category	of 100	Variance	Variance
Behavioral category	1.00	0.48	0.66	0.40	0.21	0.08	0.68	-0.31	-0.01
Communication category		1.00	0.59	0.66	0.18	0.47	0.77	-0.27	-0.03
Team category			1.00	0.65	0.37	0.43	0.89	-0.37	-0.19
Managerial category				1.00	0.32	0.72	0.87	-0.37	-0.06
Technological category					1.00	0.18	0.45	0.09	-0.31
Contractual category						1.00	0.65	-0.42	-0.10
Total score out of 100							1.00	-0.40	-0.15
Schedule Variance								1.00	0.10
Budget Variance									1.00

Table 17: Linear correlation between scores and project performance

This was further corroborated when a multi variate linear regression was performed once between the scores (independent variables) and project duration (dependent variable) and a second time between the scores and project budget. The regression equation predicting project duration can be seen in Table 18. From the coefficients of the equation, one can observe that all the category scores (dependent variables) are negative, which means that they are inversely related to the project duration. Therefore, the regression equation is suggesting that the higher a project scores in each of the lean categories, the shorter the project duration will be. This general hypothesis of the equation is reasonable; however, one cannot rely solely on the coefficients when evaluating the accuracy of regression equation. Hence, the p-value for each of the coefficients were assessed. The p-value is a statistical term that tests the null hypothesis that the coefficient has no effect in the equation, if the p-value is lower than 5% then this means that the regression equation is reliable. Giving a closer look to the P-values of the regression equation, one can observe that none of them were lower than 5%. Moreover, as seen in Table 19 the equation had a very low adjusted R values of 0.13 and a high significance F value of 17% while its accepted values should be below 5%. The same analysis was carried out for the regression equation predicting the project budget and similar results were found. Table 20 shows that the equation establishes an inverse relationship between the category scores and the project budget through the negative coefficients. However, the P-values for all coefficients were higher than 5%. Additionally, Table 21 shows an adjusted R squared of -0.06 and a significance F of 63% which is not accepted. This gave a sign that linear data analysis is not the best method to analyze the data. Hence, compelling a redirection of the data analysis approach to follow different predictive data analytics tools.

Table 18: Linear regression equation predicting project duration

Regression equation predicting project					
duration	Coefficients	P-value			
Intercept	0.462	0.062			

Behavioral category scores out of 100	-2.568	0.383
Communication category score out of 100	-2.473	0.385
Team category score out of 100	-4.253	0.384
Managerial category scores out of 100	-4.3201	0.384
Technological category scores out of 100	-1.151	0.385
Contractual category scores out of 100	-1.906	0.383
Total score out of 100	16.668	0.384

Table 19: Regression statistics for project duration

Regression Statistics for project duration				
Multiple R	0.587			
R Square	0.344			
Adjusted R Square	0.136			
Standard Error	0.242			
Significance F	0.172			
Observations	30			

Table 20: Linear regression equation predicting project budget

Regression equation predicting project budget	Coefficients	P-value
Intercept	0.051	0.635
Behavioral category score out of 100	-1.516	0.258
Communication category score out of 100	-1.463	0.258
Team category score out of 100	-2.516	0.258
Managerial category score out of 100	-2.553	0.259
Technological category score out of 100	-0.684	0.257
Contractual category score out of 100	-1.125	0.258
Total score out of 100	9.858	0.258

Table 21: Regression statistics for project budget

Regression Statistics for project budget				
Multiple R	0.439			
R Square	0.192			
Adjusted R Square	-0.063			
Standard Error	0.109			
Significance F	0.632			
Observations	30			

5.2.1.2. Non-linear Regression

Since it is established that the relationship between scores and schedule and budget variance is non-linear. Another attempt in numerical analysis is done through non-linear regression. This analysis was aided through excel add-in XLSTAT (Addinsoft, 2020) where it performed non-linear regression analysis. The first trial run of non-linear regression aimed to see if an equation can be developed to predict the durations of projects based on their scores. When setting up the model, category scores were the independent variables and the percentage change in project duration was the dependent variable. The preliminary results of the non-linear regression model showed that the software, after 33 automatic iterations, chose the sin equation to be the best fitting equation describing the data. Where, from Equation 16, pr1 to pr4 are parameters or constant coefficients that the software calculated and X1 to X6 are the six lean category scores. The values of the parameters can be seen from Table 22, as an initial inspection, the equation's accuracy of prediction is not expected to be high as both the standard error and the confidence interval results did not show high precision. Moreover, the adjusted R^2 of the regression model is 0.01 which is very low and highlights great inaccuracy of the model.

Equation 16: Non-linear regression equation predicting percent change in project duration

% change of project duration

= pr1 + pr2 * sin(pr3 * X1 + pr4) + pr2 * sin(pr3 * X2 + pr4) + pr2* sin(pr3 * X3 + pr4) + pr2 * sin(pr3 * X4 + pr4) + pr2 * sin(pr3 * X5 + pr4) + pr2 * sin(pr3 * X6 + pr4)

Parameters	Value	Standard error	Lower bound (95%)	Upper bound (95%)
pr1	0.107	0.053	-0.001	0.215
pr2	-0.049	0.032	-0.115	0.017
pr3	1.364	0.260	0.829	1.899
pr4	-1.939	2.432	-6.939	3.060

Table 22: Parameters of non-linear equation predicting percent change in project duration

The equation's prediction results can be seen from Table 23, it is concluded from the high residuals that the model is not accurate especially that the highest residual reached up to 87%. Additionally, the mean absolute error of the model is approximately 250% which is not accepted due to its high inaccuracy. XLSTAT also generated a graphical representation of the

residuals of prediction as seen in Figure 26 that further shows the inaccuracy of the model.

Planned duration (weeks)	Forecasted duration (weeks)	Percent change in project duration	Predicted change in project duration	Residual
96	84	-12.5%	20%	-33%
192	240	25.0%	14%	11%
138	139	0.9%	16%	-15%
72	84	16.7%	14%	3%
528	700	32.6%	18%	14%
20	22	10.0%	3%	7%
138	139	0.9%	16%	-15%
197	199	1.0%	8%	-7%
192	384	100.0%	13%	87%
12	13	8.3%	16%	-8%
32	40	25.0%	9%	16%
209	209	0.0%	4%	-4%
25	29	16.0%	25%	-9%
130	182	40.0%	3%	37%
48	56	16.7%	15%	2%
10	13	30.0%	-3%	33%
14	18	28.6%	20%	9%
128	124	-3.1%	6%	-10%
240	240	0.0%	-1%	1%
187	186	-0.5%	2%	-3%
105	110	4.8%	11%	-6%
984	1163	18.2%	10%	8%
90	96	6.7%	20%	-13%
576	200	-65.3%	0%	-66%
157	205	30.6%	22%	9%
15	12	-20.0%	-1%	-19%
104	116	11.5%	8%	4%
260	286	10.0%	11%	-1%
190	182	-4.2%	11%	-15%
209	189	-9.6%	7%	-17%

Table 23: Prediction results of non-linear regression for percent change in project duration



Figure 26: Residuals of non-linear regression predicting change in project duration

The above-mentioned steps are repeated once again using the projects' budget. Where the best fitting non-linear regression equation is also the sin equation resulting in Equation 17. The values of the parameters can be seen in Table 24, where the overall accuracy of the equation is also not expected to be high due to the high standard error and confidence interval. Also, the adjusted R^2 of the regression model is -0.06, where the negative sign indicates an inverse relationship between the variables of the equation. In other words, the model predicts that the higher the category scores, the lower the variation in the project budget and vice versa. In principle, the model's logic is correct however; the low value of the adjusted R^2 indicated high inaccuracy in the model's prediction which cannot be relied on.

Equation 17: Non-linear regression equation predicting percent change in project budget

% change of project budget

= pr1 + pr2 * sin(pr3 * X1 + pr4) + pr2 * sin(pr3 * X2 + pr4) + pr2* sin(pr3 * X3 + pr4) + pr2 * sin(pr3 * X4 + pr4) + pr2 * sin(pr3 * X5 + pr4) + pr2 * sin(pr3 * X6 + pr4)

Parameters	Value	Standard error	Lower bound (95%)	Upper bound (95%)
pr1	0.013	0.021	-0.030	0.057
pr2	-0.020	0.012	-0.044	0.005
pr3	1.168	0.183	0.791	1.544
pr4	-0.263	1.962	-4.296	3.770

Table 24: Parameters of non-linear equation predicting percent change in project budget

The results of the regression analysis are shown in Table 25, where it is seen that the predicted percent change in budget is not of high accuracy. Although the predicted results were far off from the actual percent change of the project budget, the error is prediction, though still not acceptable, was not as high as the error in the equation predicting project duration. In fact, the highest residual is 27% and the mean absolute error 117% which is still very high. The residuals can be graphically visualized from Figure 27. Since the outcome of the non-linear regression is not accurate, it is rejected and therefore will not be taken as basis for the prediction model. Hence, other machine learning algorithms were studied in further attempts to reach high levels of accuracy.

Planned budget	Forecasted budget	Percent change in Predicted change		Decidual
(EGP)	(EGP)	project budget	in project budget	Kesiduai
2,500,000,000	3,000,000,000	20%	-1%	21%
1,400,000,000	1,500,000,000	7%	1%	6%
796,000,000	784,000,000	-2%	3%	-5%
1,400,000,000	1,200,000,000	-14%	3%	-17%
54,000,000,000	54,000,000,000	0%	3%	-3%
15,000,000	15,000,000	0%	5%	-5%
796,000,000	784,000,000	-2%	3%	-5%
61,500,000	63,200,000	3%	5%	-2%
4,000,000,000	4,250,000,000	6%	3%	3%
56,906,869	76,923,090	35%	8%	27%
171,219,014	170,681,089	0%	2%	-2%
128,000,000	118,000,000	-8%	-5%	-3%
46,000,000	46,200,000	0%	1%	0%
120,000,000	145,000,000	21%	4%	17%
85,000,000	100,000,000	18%	9%	9%
86,387,391	86,986,132	1%	-1%	2%
138,278,978	145,236,506	5%	2%	3%
850,000,000	876,387,200	3%	2%	1%
4,708,000,000	4,708,000,000	0%	-1%	1%

Table 25: Prediction results of non-linear regression for percent change in project budget

50,000,000	46,000,000	-8%	4%	-12%
1,000,000,000	1,012,000,000	1%	2%	-1%
8,000,000,000	7,820,000,000	-2%	5%	-7%
56,000,000	61,000,000	9%	10%	-1%
188,000,000,000	190,356,000,000	1.3%	0%	2%
1,600,000,000	1,305,000,000	-18%	5%	-23%
15,000,000	14,000,000	-7%	0%	-7%
7,816,000,000	8,600,000,000	10%	0%	11%
6,480,000,000	6,480,000,000	0%	-1%	1%
108,000,000	103,000,000	-5%	-1%	-4%
1,900,000,000	1,840,000,000	-3%	4%	-7%



Figure 27: Residuals of non-linear regression predicting change in project budget

5.2.1.3. Numerical Neural Networks

Numerical neural networks, a predictive data analysis tool, was utilized in an attempt to predict project performance through using the calculated scores. The network architecture consisted of six input nodes, one hidden layer with six nodes and an output node. Since the aim was to predict project duration and cost, two neural networks were made. The input nodes of the neural networks were fed with the six category scores and the output nodes generated the predicted project duration in weeks and the project budget in Egyptian pounds. The two predictive neural networks for project duration and budget can be seen in Figure 28 and Figure 29 respectively.



Figure 29: Numerical neural network predicting project budget

Excel add-in NeuralTools (Palisade, 2021) was used in building the neural network

algorithm. Where the data was separated into two segments, training dataset and testing dataset. The aim of data separation was to train the neural network algorithm on 80% of the data and examine the accuracy of the network's prediction on the remaining 20% through the testing dataset. The measure of accuracy of the neural network depended on the precision of the predicted duration and budget. The testing dataset results of the neural network predicting project duration can be seen in Table 26. As observed, four out of five predictions were classified by NeuralTools as "Good". Upon initial inspection, the predicted durations seemed to be somewhat close to the actual durations of the projects. However, the testing dataset results of the neural network predicting project budget in Table 27 had large errors in predictions and all predictions made were classified as "Bad" for all testing data. Hence, numerically predicting project performance through neural networks proved to yield an unsuccessful outcome.

Actual/forecasted duration (weeks)
205
12
286
182
189

Tag	Caad/Dad	Desidual
Used	GOOd/Bad	Residual
test	Good	-1.57
test	Bad	-164.53
test	Good	69.47
test	Good	-27.33
test	Good	-30.53

Table 27: Numerical neural network prediction project budget results

Actual/forecasted Budget (EGP)	
1,305,000,000	
14,000,000	
8,600,000,000	
6,480,000,000	
103,000,000	

Tag Used	Good/Bad	Residual
test	Bad	(12,186,080,701)
test	Bad	(13,495,080,701)
test	Bad	(4,873,080,701)
test	Bad	(6,939,080,701)
test	Bad	(13,307,080,701)

5.2.2. Categorical Analysis

It was proven through numerical analysis that the dataset herein has a complex intertwined pattern making it difficult to establish an algorithm that is able to accurately predict project performance due to the small size of the dataset compared to the number of inputs. This provoked a change in the data analysis approach from <u>numerical</u> analysis to <u>categorical</u> analysis; at which the dependent variables are now categories rather than numbers. Therefore, other machine learning algorithms were resorted to in an effort to create a model that can find a correlation between lean factors and project performance through categorical classification. Considering that the evaluation model would classify the data based on categories, the established categorization has to be fully indicative of the project's status. Therefore, the projects were categorized based on their performance in terms of schedule and budget. In order to be able to correctly categorize the existing data, global statistics on the performance of construction projects were used as reference. According to Assaad et al. (2020), a minor proportion of only 25% of construction projects are performed within 10% of their original planned durations. Hence, projects with a schedule variance of 10% or less were categorized to have a minor delay, projects between 10% to 25% were within the average delay rates and the ones exceeding 25% were considered to have a major delay. According to this breakdown, the data distribution came as shown in Figure 30.



Figure 30: Data distribution based on schedule variance

On the other hand, the average construction project is completed with a 28% budget overrun (Aljohani, 2017). Thus, projects with a budget variance of 28% should be categorized

as moderately above budget; however, since there weren't enough data above 28% to represent major overrun, it was reduced to 20% for better representation of all categories. Therefore, the categorization was as follows: projects with a variance of 5% or less were considered minor, projects between 5% to 20% were average and the ones exceeding 20% were major. This resulted in the data distribution shown in Figure 31.



Figure 31: Data distribution based on budget variance

The established categorization pattern not only allows for a deeper understanding of the data but also aids to the credibility of the evaluation model. This is due to the fact that the model will be able to predict, through machine learning algorithms, future projects' performance up to a detailed level of information. Therefore, the key to ensure the credibility of the model was to guarantee that the predictive analysis has very high accuracy and almost no miss-classification. Accordingly, based on the literature review and given that the data were divided into categories, two supervised machine learning algorithms were utilized; decision trees and neural networks.

5.2.2.1. Decision Trees

After categorizing the data, excel add-in XLSTAT (Addinsoft, 2020) was used to perform machine learning algorithms; namely decision trees. Since the evaluation model's outcome will include a predicted categorization of schedule and budget performance, two decision tree models were done to cover both aspects. To start off, the data were separated into two sub-sets, a training set and a validation set. The training set is to train the model on the existing data and the validation set is to test the trained model. The aim of the validation set is to see if the model will correctly predict the classification of new data entries and evaluate how well trained the model is. It goes without saying that as the accuracy of the decision tree model rises, so does the confidence level of the evaluation model, since it increases the chances of precisely predicting project performance. The input data for the decision trees consisted of the six lean category scores along with the project's categorization for schedule and budget. Numerical values were assigned to the schedule and budget categories according to Table 28 and Table 29 in order for the model to run.

Table 28: Numerical values for schedule categories

Numerical value	Category
1	On or before schedule
2	Late - Minor
3	Late - Average
4	Late - Major

Table 29: Numerical values for budget categories

Numerical value	Category
1	On or under budget
2	Above budget - Minor
3	Above budget - Average
4	Above budget - Major

In an effort to verify that the model was trained effectively, the data were separated based on 80-20 proportions. That is, 80% of the data were used as the training set and 20% were used as the validation set. To guarantee that the validation process is unbiased, a set of five projects containing one project representing each of the four established categories along with one random project was done. This ensures that the model is validated with respect to all possible cases for both schedule and budget categories. Moreover, in order to further validate the decision tree, the data of three hypothetical projects each representing the performance of imaginary companies were inserted into the model. The projects embody different performance level scenarios. The first one being the "perfect" performance, where the company is theoretically implementing all of the 27 identified lean factors frequently in the project. In other words, its total score would be 100; therefore, it should be on time and on budget. This would mean that the decision tree will classify this project as 1 indicating on or before schedule and on or under budget. The second scenario represents the "above average" company performance, where there is systematic implementation of lean factors in the project. This level of performance would also mean that the project should be on schedule and budget or, at maximum, slightly beyond one or both. Hence, a classification of 1 or 2 (Late - Minor and Above budget - Minor) is expected of the decision tree. The third project exemplifies "poor" performance, where lean factors are employed very rarely. Consequently, making the project Late - Major and Above budget – Major and therefore should be classified by the decision tree as 4.

The validation process first started out with calculating the category scores for each of the three scenarios. This was done with reference to the lean factors Likert scale in Table 11. Accordingly, the "perfect" performing project was assigned a value of five, leading to a total score of 100. The "above average" project was assigned a value of four for a total of 75 points. Lastly, the "poor" performing project was assigned a value of one, which gave a total score of zero. Then, the data was entered into the decision tree.

The resulting decision tree models for schedule and budget classification are shown in appendix A. Assessing the accuracy of the decision trees depended mainly on the results of the confusion matrix for both the training and validation data sets. The confusion matrix displays how the data is originally classified versus how the decision tree algorithm classified it. The more often the model classifies data correctly, the better accuracy it yields and the more reliable the decision tree becomes. When looking at the confusion matrix for the schedule performance training data set in Table 30, one can notice that the model was able to correctly classify 17

projects out of the total input of 25 projects. Consequently, the overall accuracy of the decision tree was 68%.

from \ to	1	2	3	4	Total	% Accuracy
1	4	1	1	2	8	50.0
2	0	6	1	0	7	85.7
3	0	1	4	0	5	80.0
4	0	0	2	3	5	60.0
Total	4	8	8	5	25	68.0

Table 30: Confusion matrix for predicting schedule performance - training data set

Meanwhile, the schedule performance validation dataset, shown in Table 31, had an overall accuracy of 50%, which is four projects out of eight. When taking a deeper look into the matrices, the correct classification percentage for all categories does not fall below 50%. This indicates that the overall accuracy of the model is acceptable though it is not very high, which is further reaffirmed with its ability to correctly categorize 63% of the projects - a total of 21 out of 33 projects.

from \ % Total to Accuracy 66.6 100.0 50.0 50.0 50.0 Total

Table 31: Confusion matrix for predicting schedule performance - validation data set

As for the decision tree predicting budget performance, the confusion matrix for the training data set and validation data set shown in Table 32 and Table 33 gave a total accuracy of 84% and 62% respectively. Looking at the complete picture, the model predicting budget performance had a higher accuracy than the one predicting schedule performance, as the total correctly classified data was 26 out of 33 projects making the model 78% accurate.

Table 32: Confusion ma	atrix for predicting budget performance - training data set	

from \ to	1	2	3	4	Total	% Accuracy
1	12	0	0	1	13	92.3
2	0	5	0	0	5	100.0
3	1	2	2	0	5	40.0
4	0	0	0	2	2	100.0
Total	13	7	2	3	25	84.0

from \ to	1	2	3	4	Total	% Accuracy
1	2	2	0	0	4	50.0
2	0	1	0	1	2	50.0
3	0	0	1	0	1	100.0
4	0	0	0	1	1	100.0
Total	2	3	1	2	8	62.0

Table 33: Confusion matrix for budget performance - validation data set

Despite the fact that the results attained were not of high precision, they were far better than the ones achieved through linear and non-linear regression. Thus, while the achieved outcomes were not satisfactory to reach a finalized method that is ready for use in the evaluation model, the initial results of using machine learning algorithms showed a promising lead to reaching an accurate model. This led to further exploring other methods, like neural networks, that can provide more accurate predictions.

5.2.2.2. Multiclass Classification Neural Networks

• Network Architecture:

R Studio, a statistical computing software, was used to conduct a multi-class classification neural network (R Core Team, 2019). Going with the same approach as the one used in the numerical neural networks; two separate neural network models were created; one predicting schedule performance and the other predicting budget performance. The input layer was identical for both the schedule and budget networks; it consisted of 6 input nodes, each node representing one of the six lean category scores. The output layer in each network consisted of 4 nodes, one for each category of projects in schedule and budget performance as illustrated in Figure 32. Since the R Studio package "NeuralNetTools" could compute categories in a text format, the categories were kept with their original names (Beck MW,2018). The aim of using neural networks was to reach a simple algorithm that predicts project performance with the minimum error percentage. Hence, multiple iterations were conducted to reach the minimum number of hidden layers and nodes that provide the least classification error.



Figure 32: Neural networks architecture (Williams, 1994)

• Multiclass neural networks calculation method:

Classification neural networks are calculated through a series of feedforward steps, were the data moves in a horizontal direction from the input node all the way to the output node. Figure 33 explains how information flows through the network. Where $I_{1...6}$ are the input nodes, each having one of the six lean category scores, $H_{1...6}$ are the nodes in the hidden layer and $O_{1...4}$ are the output nodes (representing one of the four established categories for either schedule or budget performance).



Figure 33: Information flow through a multiclass neural network

To illustrate the calculation process, take the path of nodes I_1 , H_1 and O_1 as an example:

1) The input layer value of I_1 is multiplied by the weight $I_1 - H_1$ where this weight is automatically calculated by the software.

2) Then, the result of this multiplication is added to a bias value of 1.

3) The resulting number is then activated by passing through the activation function, in this case, the Sigmoid function. This function, shown in Equation 18, takes the input value and turns it into a value between 0 and 1 representing the predicted probability of a certain event happening. The output value of the activation function transfers information from the left side of the hidden layer to its right side.

Equation 18: Sigmoid function

$$S(x) = \frac{1}{1+e^{-x}}$$

4) The input value for H_1 becomes the same as the output value calculated by the activation function. This value is then multiplied by the weight $H_1 - O_1$ and the result is added to a bias value of 1.

5) The result is activated by the sigmoid function again giving a probability.

6) The above steps are repeated for all the nodes in the network ($I_{1...6}$, $H_{1...6}$ and $O_{1...4}$).

7) This results in having four final predicted probability values, each presenting the chance of the project belonging to a certain category.

8) The output node with the highest probability is the final predicted categorization of the project.

• Multiclass classification neural network predicting schedule

performance:

The R Studio code for the neural network predicting schedule performance is shown in

Figure 34 below:

```
library(nnet)
library(NeuralNetTools)
# Read Data
getwd()
data <-read.csv("Multi classification neural network - sched.csv",header = TRUE)
str(data)
summary(data)
getwd()
datatest <-read.csv("test data.csv",header = TRUE)</pre>
str(datatest)
summary(datatest)
#fit model
fit <- nnet(Status~.,data=data, size =6, decay= 0.0001, maxit = 500)
neuralweights(fit)
plotnet(fit)
#predictions
predictions <- predict(fit, data[,1:6], type = "class")</pre>
list(predictions)
list(data$Status)
#predicting tests
predictiontest <-predict(fit, datatest[,1:6], type = "class")</pre>
list(predictiontest)
library(caret)
confusionMatrix(as.factor(predictions), as.factor(data$status))
```

Figure 34: R code predicting schedule performance

Given the aforementioned calculation method, the main indicator of the efficiency of the network lies in the model's ability to calculate weights that adequately predict projects' categories. Accordingly, when building the network, the main aim was to find the model that gives the least error. To do this, multiple iterations were done to reach the optimum result, which is reaching the minimum classification error using the least number of hidden layers and nodes.

After a series of iterations, the code generated the network shown in Figure 35. As seen, the final optimum neural network predicting schedule performance consisted of one hidden layer with six nodes. The neural network weights are also shown in Table 34.



Figure 35: Multiclass neural network predicting schedule performance

	В	I1	I2	I3	I4	I5	I6
Input Layer	1.000	6.696	4.226	9.486	7.600	9.193	6.745
Weights between input							
and hidden layer	В	I1	I2	I3	I4	I5	I6
H1	-12.008	0.239	-3.048	-2.819	9.582	4.813	-6.187
H2	11.225	0.182	-8.555	4.219	-3.433	-4.056	8.459
H3	-7.301	3.809	-4.130	-1.126	-4.265	0.421	6.118
H4	-0.481	0.259	-4.322	-5.242	4.990	0.573	2.155
H5	0.000	0.344	0.041	0.166	0.133	0.513	0.180
H6	0.032	-0.152	-0.084	-0.095	-0.040	-0.103	-0.116
	В	H1	H2	H3	H4	H5	H6
Values (Z)		25.300	9.988	2.797	-9.012	10.991	-4.271
Sigmoid of Z	1.000	1.000	1.000	0.943	0.000	1.000	0.014
Weights between hidden							
and output layer	В	H1	H2	H3	H4	H5	H6
01	-4.290	-4.078	18.243	1.498	-8.807	-2.431	0.006
02	4.929	-21.463	8.967	3.215	-23.288	2.624	-0.049
03	2.408	14.390	-1.759	-11.105	5.620	0.768	0.008
04	-3.060	11.272	-25.576	6.302	26.532	-0.960	0.012

Table 34: Node weights of multiclass classification neural network predicting project schedule performance

The aforementioned neural network automatically generated the confusion matrix shown in Table 35. The network assessment depended on the confusion matrix that the code generated, where the matrix showed that the model was able to correctly classify 24 out of the 25 training projects. This makes the overall accuracy of the model to be 96%. Such accurate results mean that the neural network algorithm was not only able to find a correlation between the lean category scores and project schedule performance, but also it was able to map this relationship and train itself to correctly classify projects based on that relationship. When looking at the misclassified project, one can find that its original classification was "On or before schedule" however, the network predicted it to be classified as "late – Minor". Although this is a misclassification, the predicted classification was not too far off from the original one. Hence, the results of this network are deemed acceptable to use in the evaluation model since they have low chance of error due to the model's high accuracy.

from \ to	1	2	3	4	Total	% Accuracy
1	7	0	0	0	7	100.0
2	1	6	0	0	7	85.8
3	0	0	6	0	6	100.0
4	0	0	0	5	5	100.0
Total	8	6	6	5	25	96.0

Table 35: Confusion matrix for multiclass neural network predicting schedule performance – training data set

As a final step before finalizing the evaluation model, the established multiclass classification neural networks were validated. New testing data were introduced to validate that the neural networks are efficient and will yield realistic results when incorporated in the evaluation model. In order to do that, the same eight projects that were used in the validation of the decision tree were also used in the validation of the multiclass neural network. That is, a set of five projects containing one project representing each of the four established categories along with one random project. Moreover, a project representing a company that frequently implements the 27 identified lean factors therefore, it should be on time and on budget. Another project representing a company that regularly implements the lean factors, leading to high probability of the project to be on schedule and budget. Lastly, a company that employs lean factors very rarely making the project delayed and above budget.

The category scores for each of the three scenarios were compiled in a single source and were incorporated in the R Studio neural network code as test data. The network was then programmed to predict the classification of the projects based solely on their category scores. The predicted results are shown in Table 36. As displayed, the neural network was able to correctly classify a 100% of the validation data set including the three hypothetical projects as shown in Figure 36. Making the network 96% accurate as it was able to correctly predict 32 of 33 projects.

from \ to	1	2	3	4	Total	% Accuracy
1	3	0	0	0	3	100.0
2	0	2	0	0	2	100.0
3	0	0	1	0	1	100.0
4	0	0	0	2	2	100.0
Total	3	2	1	2	8	100.0

Table 36: Confusion matrix for multiclass neural network predicting schedule performance – validation data set

```
> #predicting tests
> predictiontest <-predict(fit, datatest[,1:6], type = "class")
> list(predictiontest)
[[1]]
[1] "On or before schedule" "On or before schedule" "Late - Major"
```

Figure 36: Schedule performance prediction for validation dataset

• Multiclass classification neural network predicting budget

performance:

The R Studio code for the neural network predicting budget performance is shown in Figure 37 below:

```
library(nnet)
library(NeuralNetTools)
# Read Data
getwd()
data <-read.csv("Multi classification neural network - cost.csv",header = TRUE)
str(data)
summary(data)
# read data
getwd()
datatest <-read.csv("test data.csv",header = TRUE)</pre>
str(datatest)
summary(datatest)
#fit model
fit <- nnet(Status~., data=data, size =4, decay= 0.0001, maxit = 500)
neuralweights(fit)
plotnet(fit)
#predictions
predictions <- predict(fit, data[,1:6], type = "class")</pre>
list(predictions)
list(data$Status)
#predicting tests
predictiontest <-predict(fit, datatest[,1:6], type = "class")</pre>
list(predictiontest)
library(caret)
confusionMatrix(as.factor(predictions), as.factor(data$Status))
I
```

```
Figure 37: R Code predicting budget performance
```

In an effort to optimize and simplify the network, iteration steps were done in order to find the minimum number of hidden layers and nodes. Figure 38 shows the network that yielded results with the highest accuracy. As shown, it consisted of one hidden layer with four nodes, the node weights can be seen in Table 37.





Table 37: Node weights of	of multiclass cl	lassification ne	eural network	predicting	project	budget	performance
---------------------------	------------------	------------------	---------------	------------	---------	--------	-------------

	В	I1	I2	I3	I4	I5	I6
Input Layer	1	6.696	4.226	9.486	7.600	9.193	6.745
Weights between input and							
hidden layer	В	I1	I2	I3	I4	I5	I6
						-	-
H1	-18.114	-7.718	4.011	15.604	-6.248	0.582	1.006
						-	
H2	-1.293	-5.484	-5.091	-0.951	1.075	0.540	7.425
						-	-
НЗ	-10.839	1.593	14.023	-2.759	-1.100	4.803	2.657
						-	
H4	4.516	10.561	-6.603	-7.410	8.321	9.687	2.488
					/		
	В	H1	H2	H3	H4		
Values (Z)		35.568	-15.253	-37.506	-32.007		
Sigmoid of Z	1	1.000	0.000	0.000	0.000		
Weights between hidden and							
output layer	В	H1	H2	H3	H4		
01	-27.784	42.103	10.602	-18.104	30.748		
02	19.192	-31.917	-12.579	9.142	-4.835		
03	1.990	8.782	-1.246	-7.785	9.268		
04	6.563	-18.998	3.190	16.792	-35.234		

The results of the neural network were satisfactory as seen from the automatically generated confusion matrix in Table 38. The model had 92% accuracy as there were only two misclassified projects. These projects were originally classified as "above budget – minor", however, they were predicted to be "on or under budget". Once more, the difference between the original categories and the predicted ones was not far-fetched providing an acceptable error. Therefore, given the high accuracy of the network, it is considered fit for use in the evaluation model.

from \ to	1	2	3	4	Total	% Accuracy
1	13	2	0	0	15	86.6
2	0	3	0	0	3	100.0
3	0	0	5	0	5	100.0
4	0	0	0	2	2	100.0
Total	13	5	5	2	25	92.0

Table 38: Confusion matrix for multiclass neural network predicting budget performance - training data set

As for the validation data set, as seen in Table 39 the model was able to correctly predict 100% of the validation data set. Figure 39 also shows that the network was able to predict all three of the hypothetical projects. The testing data set along with the validation data set shows that the network is 94% accurate as it was able to correctly predict 31 out of 33 projects. *Table 39: Confusion matrix for multiclass neural network predicting budget performance – validation data set*

from \ to	1	2	3	4	Total	% Accuracy
1	5	0	0	0	5	100.0
2	0	1	0	0	1	100.0
3	0	0	1	0	1	100.0
4	0	0	0	1	1	100.0
Total	3	1	1	1	8	100.0

```
une est. Conjusion maines for maineauss neural neuron preatening baager performance - ranaanon aaa ser
```

```
> #predicting tests
> predictiontest <-predict(fit, datatest[,1:6], type = "class")
> list(predictiontest)
[[1]]
[1] "On or under budget" "On or under budget" "Above budget - Major"
```

Figure 39: Budget performance prediction for validation dataset

As per the above-mentioned results, it is clear that using multiclass classification neural networks to find a correlation between lean category scores and project performance proved to

be successful. This accomplishment greatly adds to the legitimacy of the evaluation model where the established neural networks act as a precise database. This solid foundation will consequently raise the probability of correctly predicting performance of new projects. Moreover, the above results not only validate the model but also add to the validity of the neural networks' algorithm as they proved that the established model is effective, accurate and efficient. Thus, raising confidence in the fact that an accurate and precise correlation between category scores and project performance was established. Additionally, the results confirmed that the existing data provide a sufficient source for a stable setup to build the evaluation model. Such solid grounds led to the decision to incorporate the established neural networks in the evaluation model.

5.2.3. Comparison

Table 40 shows a comparison between the five different algorithms that were used in developing the performance prediction model predicting schedule performance.

Data Analysis method	Algorithm	Set of hyperparameters	Parameter of accuracy	Result	Decision
Numerical	Linear Regression	The six lean category scores	R Squared	0.13	Reject
Numerical	Non-linear Regression	The six lean category scores	Average residual percent	16%	Reject
Numerical	Neural Networks	The six lean category scores	Accuracy of prediction	80%	Reject
Categorical	Decision Trees	The six lean category scores	Percentage of Accuracy	63%	Reject
Categorical	Multiclass Classification Neural Networks	The six lean category scores	Percentage of Accuracy	96%	Accept

Table 40: Comparison between the different algorithms used to develop the schedule prediction model

Table 41 shows a comparison between the different algorithms that were used in developing the performance prediction model predicting budget performance.

Table 41: Comparison between the different algorithms used to develop the budget prediction model

Data Analysis method	Algorithm	Set of hyperparameters	Parameter of accuracy	Result	Decision
Numerical	Linear Regression	The six lean category scores	R Squared	-0.06	Reject
Numerical	Non-linear Regression	The six lean category scores	Average residual percent	6%	Reject
Numerical	Neural Networks	The six lean category scores	Accuracy of prediction	0%	Reject
Categorical	Decision Trees	The six lean category scores	Percentage of Accuracy	78%	Reject
Categorical	Multiclass Classification Neural Networks	The six lean category scores	Percentage of Accuracy	94%	Accept

Chapter 6. Developing a User-friendly Tool

The networks were incorporated in a user-friendly evaluation model that companies can use as a tool to self-evaluate their performance. The evaluation depends on the companies' self-rated performance in the 27 lean factors. The model then takes the user's input, computes the score and, as a final step, predicts the project's performance using the established neural networks. The following process outlines the creation of the model:

1- In the backend of the model, an excel sheet was created to store the user's selfrated input values, here the sheet saves all the answers that the user provides. Based on the responses, the sheet is programmed to calculate the final score out of 100 as per the established scoring system.

2- Neural network weights were retrieved from R Studio to simulate the network on excel. This was done by linking the weights with the user input sheet and computing the network as seen in Figure 40 and Figure 41.

			Schedule predi	ction			
	В	11	12	13	14	15	16
Input Layer	1	6.695754717	4.226415094	9.486307278	7.599730458	9.193396226	6.745283019
Weigts between input and hidden	В	11	12	13	14	15	16
H1	-12.007652	0.2392432	-3.0484692	-2.8191326	9.5824025	4.8125393	-6.1871138
H2	11.2252935	0.1822619	-8.5547097	4.2190764	-3.4332342	-4.0563633	8.4590188
H3	-7.3008535	3.8094899	-4.1298881	-1.1255886	-4.2646487	0.4206776	6.1176659
H4	-0.481411	0.2589064	-4.3222	-5.2418819	4.989694	0.5733668	2.1552899
H5	-0.000266872	0.343733391	0.040745387	0.165852216	0.133353876	0.512950638	0.180092598
H6	0.03160333	-0.15177901	-0.08391142	-0.09466706	-0.0403648	-0.10306977	-0.11557149
	В	H1	H2	H3	H4	H5	He
Values (Z)		25.30043057	9.988441724	2.796918887	-9.01179298	10.99080712	-4.271242248
Sigmoid of Z	1	1	0.999954074	0.942509099	0.000121948	0.999983144	0.013772106
Weights between hidden and outp	в	H1	H2	H3	H4	H5	H6
Weights between hidden and outp O1	B -4.2895879	H1 -4.07787299	H2 18.24273435	H3 1.49815595	H4 -8.80704234	H5 -2.43063672	H6 0.00550652
Weights between hidden and outp O1 O2	B -4.2895879 4.92874122	H1 -4.07787299 -21.46252535	H2 18.24273435 8.96691622	H3 1.49815595 3.21456308	H4 -8.80704234 -23.28769342	H5 -2.43063672 2.62395063	H6 0.00550652 -0.04858708
Weights between hidden and outp O1 O2 O3	B -4.2895879 4.92874122 2.407665327	H1 -4.07787299 -21.46252535 14.39026212	H2 18.24273435 8.96691622 -1.758990328	H3 1.49815595 3.21456308 -11.10547077	H4 -8.80704234 -23.28769342 5.620206557	H5 -2.43063672 2.62395063 0.767643955	H6 0.00550652 -0.04858708 0.008169179
Weights between hidden and outp 01 02 03 04	B -4.2895879 4.92874122 2.407665927 -3.06024947	H1 -4.07787299 -21.46252535 14.39026212 11.27172827	H2 18.24273435 8.96691622 -1.758990328 -25.57595023	H3 1.49815595 3.21456308 -11.10547077 6.3021315	H4 -8.80704234 -23.28769342 5.620206557 26.53225917	H5 -2.43063672 2.62395063 0.767643955 -0.95974114	H6 0.00550652 -0.04858708 0.008169179 0.01199119
Weights between hidden and outp 01 02 03 04	B -4.2895879 4.92874122 2.407665927 -3.06024947	H1 -4.07787299 -21.46262535 14.39026212 11.27172827	H2 18.24273435 8.96691622 -1.758990328 -25.57595023	H3 1.49815595 3.21456308 -11.10547077 6.3021315	H4 -8.80704234 -23.28769342 5.620206557 26.53225917	H5 -2.43063672 2.62395063 0.767643955 -0.95974114	H6 0.00550652 -0.04858708 0.008169179 0.01199119
Weights between hidden and outp O1 O2 O3 O4	B -4,2895879 4,92874122 2,407665927 -3,06024947	H1 -4.07787299 -2146252535 14.39026212 11.27172827 O1	H2 18.24273435 8.96691622 -1.756990328 -25.57595023 O2	H3 1.49815595 3.21456308 -11.10547077 6.3021315 O3	H4 -8.80704234 -23.28769342 5.620206557 26.53225917 O4	H5 -2.43063672 2.62395063 0.767643955 -0.95974114	H6 0.00550652 -0.04858708 0.008163179 0.01193119
Weights between hidden and outp O1 O2 O3 O4	B -4.2895879 4.32874122 2.407665527 -3.06024947 Values (Z)	H1 -4.07787299 -21.46252535 14.39026212 11.27172827 01 8.854867351	H2 18.24273435 8.96691622 -1.755990328 -25.57595023 O2 -1.917127403	H3 1.49815595 3.21456308 -11.10547077 6.3021315 O3 5.340440138	H4 -8.80704234 -23.28769342 5.620206557 26.53225917 04 -12.37980482	H5 -2.43063672 2.62395063 0.767643955 -0.95974114	H6 0.00550652 -0.04858708 0.008169179 0.01199119
Weights between hidden and outp 01 02 03 04	B -4.2895879 4.92874122 2.407665927 -3.06024947 Values (Z) Sigmoid of Z	H1 -4.07787299 -2146252535 14.39026212 11.27172827 O1 -8.854867351 0.398857335	H2 18.24273435 8.96691622 -1.758990328 -25.57595023 O2 -1.917127403 0.128182241	H3 1.49815555 3.21455306 -11.10547077 6.3021315 03 5.340440138 0.39522311	H4 -8.80704234 -23.28763042 5.620206557 26.53225917 04 -12.37980482 4.20258E-06	H5 -2.43063672 2.62395063 0.767643955 -0.95974114	H6 0.00550652 -0.04858708 0.008163179 0.01193119
Weights between hidden and outp O1 O2 O3 O4	B -4.2995879 2.407665927 -3.06024947 Values (Z) Sigmoid of Z	H1 -4.07787299 -21.46252535 14.39026212 11.27172827 O1 8.854867351 0.999857335	H2 18.24273435 8.96591622 1.756990328 -25.57595023 O2 -1917127403 0.128182241	H3 1.49815595 3.21456308 -11.10547077 6.3021315 03 5.340440138 0.99522911	H4 -8.80704234 -23.28769342 5.620206557 26.53225917 O4 -12.37980482 4.20259E-06	H5 -2.43063672 2.62395063 0.767643955 -0.95974114	H6 0.00550652 -0.04858708 0.008169179 0.01199119
Weights between hidden and outp 01 02 03 04 04	B -4.2895879 -4.32874122 2.407665927 -3.06024947 Values (Z) Sigmold of Z 0.999857335	H1 -4.07787299 -2:1.46252535 14.39026212 11:27172827 O1 8.854867351 0.999857335 Late - Average	H2 18,24273435 8,96691622 -1,758990328 -25,57595033 O2 -1,917127403 0,128182241	H3 1.49815555 3.21456308 -11.10547077 6.3021315 03 5.340440138 0.99522911	H4 -8.80704234 -23.28769342 5.620206557 26.53225917 O4 -12.37980482 4.20259E-06	H5 -2.43063672 2.82395063 0.767643955 -0.35974114	H6 0.00550652 0.04858708 0.003159173 0.01139119
Weights between hidden and outp 01 02 03 04 04 01 02 02	B -4.2995879 -4.32874122 2.407665327 -3.06024947 Values (Z) Sigmoid of Z -0.393857335 -0.128182241	H1 -4.07787299 -2146252535 14.39026212 11.27172827 01 -8.854867351 0.999857335 Late - Average Late - Average Late - Major	H2 18,24273435 8,96831622 -1,758390328 -25,57595023 O2 -1,917127403 0,128182241	H3 1.49815595 3.21455306 -11.10547077 6.3021315 03 5.340440138 0.99522311	H4 -8.80704234 -23.28769342 5.620206557 26.53225917 D4 -12.37980482 4.20259E-06	H5 -2.43063672 2.62395063 0.767643355 -0.35974114	H6 0.00550652 0.04456708 0.008169179 0.01199119
Veights between hidden and outp 01 02 03 04 04 01 02 03 03	B -4.2995879 2.407665927 -3.06024947 Values (Z) Sigmold of Z 0.999857335 0.128182241 0.99522911	H1 -4.07787299 -2146252535 14.39026212 11.27172827 O1 8.854867351 0.999857335 Late - Average Late - Major Late - Major	H2 18.24273435 8.96591622 1.756990328 -25.57595023 O2 -1.917127403 0.128182241	H3 1.49815595 3.21455303 -11.10547077 6.3021315 03 5.340440138 0.39522911	H4 -8.80704234 5.620206657 26.53225917 04 -12.37980482 4.20259E-06	H5 -2.43063672 2.82395063 0.767643955 -0.95974114	H6 0.00550652 -0.043582708 0.003163179 0.01193119
Weights between hidden and outp 01 02 03 04 01 02 01 02 03 04 04 04 04 04	B -4.2895879 -4.32874122 2.407665927 -3.06024947 Values (Z) Sigmold of Z 0.999857335 0.128182241 0.99562311 4.20259E-06	H1 -4.07787299 -2.146252535 14.39026212 11.27172827 01 8.854867351 0.399857335 Late - Average Late - Major Late - Minor On or before schedule	H2 18,24273435 8,96831622 -1,768390328 -25,57595033 O2 -1,917127403 0,128182241	H3 1.49815555 3.21456308 -11.10547077 6.3021315 C3 5.340440138 0.99522311	H4 -8.80704234 -23.28769342 5.620206557 26.53225917 O4 -12.37980482 4.20259E-06	H5 -2.43063672 2.82395063 0.767643955 -0.35974114	H6 0.00550652 0.04858708 0.008163179 0.01193119
Weights between hidden and outp 01 02 03 04 01 02 02 03 04	B 4.2995879 4.32874122 2.407665927 -3.06024947 Values (Z) Sigmoid of Z 0.39957335 0.128182241 0.39552311 4.20259E-06	H1 -4.07787299 -2146252535 14.39026212 11.27172827 O1 8.854867351 0.999857335 Late - Average Late - Major Late - Minor On or before schedule	H2 18.24273435 8.96831622 -1.758930328 -25.57595023 O2 -1.917127403 0.128182241	H3 1.49815595 3.21455306 -11.10547077 6.3021315 03 5.340440138 0.99522311	H4 -8.80704234 -23.28769342 5.620206557 26.53225917 O4 -12.37980482 4.20259E-06	H5 -2.43063672 2.62395063 0.767643955 -0.95974114	H6 0.00550652 0.04858708 0.008169179 0.01199119
Weights between hidden and outp 01 02 03 04 04 01 02 03 04 02 03 03 04 04 04 02 03 03 04	B -4.2995879 -4.302874122 2.407665927 -3.06024947 Values (Z) Sigmoid of Z -0.999857335 -0.128182241 -0.99522911 -4.20259E-06 Maximum	H1 -4.07787299 -2146252835 14.39026212 11.27172827 O1 8.854867351 0.999857335 Late - Average Late - Major Late - Minor On or before schedule 0.999857335	H2 18.24273435 8.96591622 1.756990328 -25.57595023 O2 -1.917127403 0.128182241	H3 1.49815595 3.21455830 -11.10547077 6.3021315 03 5.340440138 0.39522911	H4 -8.80704234 -23.28769342 5.620206657 26.53225917 O4 -12.37980482 4.20259E-06	H5 -2.43063672 2.82395063 0.767643955 -0.95974114	H6 0.00550652 -0.048583708 0.008169179 0.01199119

Figure 40: Evaluation model backend - simulating the schedule performance neural network on excel

			Budget predi	ction			
	В	11	12	13	14	15	16
Input Layer	1	6.695754717	4.226415094	9.486307278	7.599730458	9.193396226	6.745283019
		н	10	10	14	IE	IC.
Line Canadiana Sectore Canadiana Canadia Canadiana Canadiana Can	10 114 211	7 7100050	12 4 0111522	10 15 0040000	PI	10 0 5017100	10059997
	1 2021257	F. F 60202	4.011022 5.0900404	0.9507492	1.075195	0.5617135	7.4053367
L2	10 020252	1592241	-0.0000404	-0.3307402 2 760640	1 100079	4 002529	2 057004
 	-10.030602	10 501100	023084	-2.708046	-1.100073	-4.602023	-2.607064
III4	4.01634	10.061188	-0.003461	-7.403734	0.32141	-3.667361	2.407000
	В	Н	H2	H3	H4		
Values (Z)	_	35.56825799	-15.25254494	-37.50571205	-32.00679856		
Sigmoid of Z	1	1	2.37631E-07	5.14608E-17	1.25784E-14		
Weigts between hidden and output	в	H1	H2	H3	H4		
01	-27.78448	42.10269	10.60212	-18.10357	30.74783		
02	19,191558	-31.917275	-12.57912	9.141845	-4.835471		
03	1.990293	8.782363	-1.246176	-7.784616	9.268469		
04	6.562707	-18.998011	3.190164	16,792436	-35.233553		
		01	02	03	04		
	Values (Z)	14.31821252	-12.72571999	10.7726557	-12.43530324		
	Sigmoid of Z	0.999999395	2.97364E-06	0.999979035	3.97571E-06		
01	0.999999395	Above budget- Average					
02	2.97364E-06	Above budget - Major					
03	0.999979035	Above budget - Minor					
04	3.97571E-06	On or under budget					
	Maximum	0.999999395					
	Classification - Budget	Above budget- Average					

Figure 41: Evaluation model backend - simulating the budget performance neural network on excel

3- The user interface was created using excel Visual Basic, where as soon as the evaluation process starts, the user is prompted to fill in questions identical to the ones that were in the project-based survey as seen in Figure 42.

Construction Project Performance Evaluation	×
Welcome! The main objective of this scoring model is to evaluate the performance of a company in a construction project, assess its strength and weaknesses and highlight how their performance affects the overall cost and schedule of the project. Please pick a project and answer the following questions based on the performance in this project:	<u> </u>
Behavioral Category	
1. Please specify the percentage of project decision makers' flexibility to adapt to change.	
2. Please 2. Please 3. Please specify the percentage of project employees who show efforts in continuous improvement	
_	
4. Please rate project employees' level of trust, confidence and respect to team members and managers.	
_	
Communication Category	-
	•

Figure 42: Evaluation model user interface

4- When the user provides answers for all questions in the survey, the results are displayed as seen in Figure 43.



Figure 43: Evaluation model results

The range figure presented on the right side of the user-interface helps companies visualize what their score means. It provides a benchmark of the company's performance as compared to the performance of other companies in the database. Since the range quartiles are separated based on the company scores in the database, users can visually compare their performance to other companies. For example, in the case shown, the company can see that its overall score of 57 is considered average performance as compared to the other companies. This also goes in line with the model's prediction that this project is likely to be Late-Major and Above Budget-Average. The model also produces a set of charts showing the performance of the company in each of the six categories. As seen in Figure 43, the company's weakest category is the communication category, hence the benchmarking scale is highlighting to the user poor performance. On the other hand, the user's strongest performing category is the contractual category is considered to be the average performance as compared to other companies benchmarking scale in Figure 44 shows that the company's performance in the contractual category is considered to be the average performance as compared to other companies in the industry. These benchmarking scales report accurately the user's performance status as they

show where the company stands as compared to other companies in the field. For this reason, the user's strongest performing category appeared to be only in the average area. This means that compared to other companies, this user needs to set goals to further improve in the contractual category even though it is their strongest category.



Figure 44: Team, technological, managerial and contractual categories benchmarking scales

It should be noted that the results will not appear unless all questions are answered. If a question was left empty, the user will get a warning message as seen in Figure 45.

struction Project Performance Evaluation

Construction Project Performance E	valuation		\times			
Above Average		_				
Submit Answers For Eva	luation					
Total Score out of 100:						
Project Duration prediction		Microsoft Excel X				
Project Budget prediction		Please answer question 9				
Project's Strongest Category						
Project's Weakest Category		ОК				
٩						

Figure 45: Warning message
Chapter 7. Conclusion

7.1 Summary and Conclusion

Effective implementation of lean construction principles is a great concern for academic researchers and field professionals alike. This growing attention results from the various tangible benefits of applying lean principles and techniques to construction projects. The reviewed literature is extensive when it comes to studying and evaluating the different lean techniques. However, there is a lack of research effort that aims to quantify and evaluate the quality of implementing lean techniques in construction projects. The outcomes of this research contribute to filling such gap through developing an unprecedented scoring method that evaluates the overall quality and frequency of implementing lean techniques in projects. Moreover, it provides a context of the score through benchmarking the project's performance by comparing it to that of other companies in the field; thus, offering a holistic performance evaluation.

To achieve such outcomes, a multistep methodology is followed involving different approaches for data collection and analysis. The initial step is to identify the main lean factors that deem a construction project to be following lean principles. These factors are recognized from the available literature and compiled into a list that is inclusive of all the aspects which lean principles aim to improve in a project. Second, an expert-based survey is created using the established list of lean factors with the aim of determining the relative importance of the identified factors. This is done through collecting experts' opinions by getting them to rate each factor in terms of its overall significance in construction projects. Such information allows for creating a fair and indicative project leanness score that accurately assesses the overall quality and frequency of implementing lean principles in the project. This leads to the third step of the research which is developing a leanness score that takes into consideration the relative importance of each of the lean factors and accordingly precisely measures the overall leanness of the project. Fourth, a project-based survey is created in order to build a database that is inclusive of different types of construction projects. This survey is used to collect information on how the different companies are implementing lean principles in their projects. The responses are then quantified using the established leanness score allowing for the creation of a benchmarking scale that companies can use to compare their performance to that of other companies in the field. The project-based survey responses are also used in the fifth step of the research which is developing a machine learning based model that predicts project performance based on its implementation of lean strategies. In the sixth and final step, the findings of the

research are summarized and presented through a user-friendly tool that companies can use to self-rate their project performance. The tool automatically calculates the overall project leanness score and machine learning algorithms use the score to predict and categorizes the project's schedule and budget performance.

To this end, the following is achieved:

- 27 lean factors that are considered the most influential on construction projects were identified and compiled into a list. Further, the factors are categorized into six categories by topic such as behavioral, communication, team, managerial, technological and contractual categories.
- An expert-based survey is conducted and responses are collected from a total of 71 experts, 53 of them practicing in USA and 18 practicing in Egypt. The results of the survey dictate the relative importance of the factors based on the opinions of the experts.
- 3. A comparison is done between experts' opinions in both countries highlighting that there is no significant difference in opinions.
- 4. Statistical methods are used to develop a leanness scoring system that considers the relative importance of lean factors. This allows for a detailed and reasonable evaluation method that is indicative of the overall quality and frequency of implementing lean factors in a construction project.
- 5. The leanness score is further broken down into category scores based on the established six categories. These category scores are used to indicate areas of strength and weakness in the project's performance.
- A project-based survey is conducted and responses from a total of 30 projects are collected. The established leanness and category scoring systems are utilized to quantify the performance of the projects.
- 7. The database of the leanness and category scores of the 30 projects is used to develop a set benchmarking scales that demonstrate the different levels of overall performance and category performance of companies in the field.
- 8. Machine learning algorithms, namely multiclass classification neural networks, are

used to predict construction projects performance in terms of schedule and budget. The algorithm's prediction categorizes the project's schedule performance as either on or before schedule, late - minor, late - average or late - major. Similarly, the project's budget performance is categorized as either on or under budget, above budget - minor, above budget - average or above budget - major. Noting that the achieved accuracy of the predicting algorithm is 96% and 94% for the schedule and budget performance respectively.

9. A user-friendly tool is developed allowing companies to self-rate their performance in construction projects. The tool uses the user's input data to automatically calculate the leanness score based on the established scoring method. Additionally, it calculates the six categories' scores and highlights areas of strength and weakness based on the highest and lowest performing categories. The user is able to visualize what their leanness and category scores indicate using the graphical benchmarking scales that the tool displays. These scales show the user where they stand compared to other companies in the industry. Lastly, the tool displays the predicted categorization of the project's schedule and budget performance based on the embedded multiclass classification neural network.

This research establishes a comprehensive scoring system that assesses the leanness of construction projects. Moreover, it provides a detailed assessment of companies' implementation of lean principles through category scores that highlight areas of strength and weakness in the project. Additionally, it utilizes multiclass classification neural networks to predict and categorize project schedule and budget performance. Furthermore, it initiates a user friendly tool that provides a fully rounded assessment of construction projects based on lean principles. The benefit of developing such tool contributes not only to academic research but also to the professional field. This is due to the fact that the tool provides three main benefits. The first is that the user gets to know their overall lean score along with their weakest and strongest lean categories. This helps in strategically laying mitigation plans that will address performance flaws from their root cause. Moreover, in the case of strong categories, companies can further grow their employees' skills or develop a rewarding system to encourage greater performance. The second benefit is that companies can expect project performance through the predictions that the model makes. Hence, they are able to plan ahead and employ corrective actions in order to improve project performance. Lastly, the outcomes of the evaluation model are set to not only show the user their current status but also show them where the project stands

as compared to the projects in the database using the leanness benchmarking scales. This helps to put the project in context compared to other projects and assists companies to benchmark themselves versus other companies.

7.2 Research Limitations and Recommendations for Future Research

The following are the limitations of the study along with their respective recommendations for future research:

- 1. The limitations of this research include having a limited database of only 30 projects. Accordingly, it is recommended for future research to conduct more project-based surveys in order to increase the database.
- 2. The limited number of projects in the database made it difficult for predictive data analysis tools to accurately predict project schedule and budget numerically. Consequently, the insufficient amount of data contributed to resorting to categorical classification. Hence, when the number of projects in the database increases, it is recommended to attempt numerically predicting schedule and budget performance.
- 3. The established neural network was built using the combination of all project types, ignoring the fact that schedule and budget performance varies according to the risks associated with each project type. Hence, it is recommended to establish separate neural networks based on the different project types as this will improve the accuracy of prediction.
- 4. Analysis of the strongest and weakest performing categories in the field can be done in order to further understand the challenges associated with implementing lean techniques in real life. This can provide another edge to the tool as it can suggest possible practical ways to strengthen areas of weakness and alleviate areas of strength.
- 5. Reiteration of expert-based surveys can be done periodically in order to update the relative importance of lean factors and accordingly update the scoring equation.

References

- Abdel-Razek, Refaat & M, Hany & Abdelhamid, Mohamed. (2007). Labor productivity: Benchmarking and variability in Egyptian projects. International Journal of Project Management - INT J PROJ MANAG. 25. 189-197. 10.1016/j.ijproman.2006.06.001.
- Abdel Hamid, Eyad & Khallaf, Rana. (2019). A Framework for Last Planner System Implementation in Egypt.
- Abbasian-Hosseini, S. A., Nikakhtar, A., & Ghoddousi, P. (2014). Verification of lean construction benefits through simulation modeling: A case study of bricklaying process. KSCE Journal of Civil Engineering, 18(5), 1248-1260.
- Abotaleb, Ibrahim & El-adaway, Islam & Ibrahim, Michael & Hanna, Awad & Russell, Jeffrey. (2020). Developing a Rating Score for Out-of-Sequence Construction. Journal of Management in Engineering. 36. 04020013. 10.1061/(ASCE)ME.1943-5479.0000765.
- 5) Addinsoft (2020). XLSTAT statistical and data analysis solution.Paris, France. https://www.xlstat.com.
- Ahiakwo, O., Oloke, D., Suresh, S., Khatib, J., 2013. A case study of Last Planner System implementation in Nigeria. Presented at the 21st Annual Conference of the International Group for Lean Construction 2013, IGLC 2013, pp. 636–644.
- Akinradewo, Opeoluwa & Oke, Ayodeji & Aigbavboa, Clinton & Ndalamba, Mulongo. (2018). Benefits of Adopting Lean Construction Technique in the South African Construction Industry. 10.13140/RG.2.2.27044.01927.
- 8) Akintoye, A. (1995). Just-in-time application and implementation for building material management. *Construction Management and Economics*, *13*(2), 105-113.
- Albalkhy, W. and Sweis, R. (2021), "Barriers to adopting lean construction in the construction industry: a literature review", *International Journal of Lean Six Sigma*, Vol. 12 No. 2, pp. 210-236. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJLSS-12-2018-0144</u>
- Aljohani, A. (2017). Construction Projects Cost Overrun: What Does the Literature Tell Us?. *International Journal Of Innovation, Management And Technology*, 137-143. doi: 10.18178/ijimt.2017.8.2.717
- Armstrong, G., & Gilge, C. (2016). Building a technology advantage. Retrieved from https://assets.kpmg/content/dam/kpmg/xx/pdf/2016/09/global-construction-survey-2016.pdf

- 12) Assaad, R., El-Adaway, I., & Abotaleb, I. (2020). Predicting Project Performance in the Construction Industry. *Journal Of Construction Engineering And Management*, 146(5), 04020030. doi: 10.1061/(asce)co.1943-7862.0001797
- 13) Ballard, G. (1999). "Improving work flow reliability." Proc., IGLC-7, 7th Conf. of Int. Group for Lean Construction, Univ. California, Berkeley, CA., 275-286.
- 14) Ballard, G. and Howell, G. (2003), "Lean project management", Building Research and Information, Vol. 31 No. 2, pp. 119-133.
- 15) Ballard, G & Y. Kim Implementing lean on capital projects 15th Annual Conference Of the International Group for LC, IGLC, East Lansing, Michigan, USA (2007), pp. 88-97 <u>http://iglc.net/Papers/Details/460</u>
- 16) Bajjou, M. S., & Chafi, A. (2018). Lean construction implementation in the Moroccan construction industry: Awareness, benefits and barriers. *Journal of Engineering, Design and Technology*.
- 17) Beck MW (2018). "NeuralNetTools: Visualization and Analysis Tools for Neural Networks." _Journal of StatisticalSoftware_,*85*(11),1-20.doi:10.18637/jss.v085.i11(URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v085.i11).</u>\
- Becker, R. M. (1998). Lean manufacturing and the Toyota production system. Encyclopedia of world biography.
- Chandra Sekhar, S. (2020). Benchmarking. African Journal Of Business Management 10, Vol. 4(6), pp. 882-885.
- 20) Construction and demolition debris generation in the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) 2015 <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2018-</u>
 <u>09/documents/construction_and_demolition_debris_generation_in_the_united_states_2015_fin_nal.pdf</u>
- 21) Conte, A.S.I. and Gransberg, D. (2001), "Lean construction: from theory to practice", AACE International Transactions, p. CS101.
- 22) Chien-Ho Ko , 2010. Application of Lean Production System in the Construction Industry: An Empirical Study. *Journal of Engineering and Applied Sciences*, 5: 71-77.
 DOI: <u>10.3923/jeasci.2010.71.77</u>

URL: <u>https://medwelljournals.com/abstract/?doi=jeasci.2010.71.77</u>

- 23) Decision Trees In Financial Analysis Magnimetrics. (2021). Retrieved from https://magnimetrics.com/decision-trees-financial-analysis/
- 24) Denerolle, S. (2018). The 8 Wastes of Lean Construction. Retrieved from

https://www.fieldwire.com/blog/eight-wastes-of-lean-construction/

- 25) Desai, V. S., and S. Joshi. 2010. "Application of decision tree technique to analyze construction project data." In Proc., Int. Conf. on Information Systems, 304–313. Berlin: Springer
- 26) Doroshenko, A. (2020). Applying Artificial Neural Networks In Construction. E3S Web Of Conferences, 143, 01029. doi: 10.1051/e3sconf/202014301029
- 27) El-adaway, Islam, and Mohamad Abdul Nabi. "Understanding the Key Risks Affecting Cost and Schedule Performance of Modular Construction Projects." *Journal of Management in Engineering*, vol. 37, no. 4, 2021, p. 04021023., doi:10.1061/(asce)me.1943-5479.0000917.
- 28) El-Sawalhi, N., Jabr, B., & el Shukri, A. (2018). Towards lean and green thinking in construction projects at Gaza Strip. In Organization, Technology and Management in Construction (pp. 1827–1838). Sciendo. Retrieved from <u>https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/212491648.pdf</u>
- 29) Elsayegh, A., & El-adaway, I. (2021). Collaborative Planning Index: A Novel Comprehensive Benchmark for Collaboration in Construction Projects. *Journal Of Management In Engineering*, 37(5), 04021057. doi: 10.1061/(asce)me.1943-5479.0000953
- 30) Ericsson, Anders K.; Charness, Neil; Feltovich, Paul; Hoffman, Robert R. (2006). Cambridge handbook on expertise and expert performance. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press. <u>ISBN 978-0-521-60081-1</u>.
- 31) Farrar, J.M., AbouRizk, S.M. and Mao, X. (2004), "Generic implementation of lean concepts in simulation models", Lean Construction Journal, Vol. 1 No. 1, pp. 1-23.
- 32) Fuemana, J., Puolitaival, T., Davies, K., 2013. Last planner system A step towards improving the productivity of new zealand construction. Presented at the 21st Annual Conference of the International Group for Lean Construction 2013, IGLC 2013, pp. 616–625
- 33) G. Locatelli, M. Mancini, G. Gastaldo, F. Mazza Improving projects performance with Lean Construction: state of the art, applicability and impacts Organ. Technol. Manag. Construct. Int. J., 5 (2013), pp. 775-783 <u>https://hrcak.srce.hr/111766</u>
- 34) Gillespie, N., Lockey, S., & Curtis, C. (2021). Trust in Artificial Intelligence: A Five Country Study. The University of Queensland and KPMG Australia. doi: 10.14264/e34bfa3
- 35) Gondia, A., Siam, A., El-Dakhakhni, W., & Nassar, A. (2020). Machine Learning Algorithms for Construction Projects Delay Risk Prediction. *Journal Of Construction Engineering And Management*, 146(1), 04019085. doi: 10.1061/(asce)co.1943-7862.0001736
- 36) Groenevelt, H., (1993). The Just-In-Time system, in: S.C. Graves, A.H.G. Rinnooy Kan and

P.H. Zipkin (Eds.), Logis- tics of Production and Inventory, Elsevier, Amsterdam

- 37) H. Erol, I. Dikmen, M.T. Birgonul Measuring the impact of lean construction practices on project duration and variability: a simulation-based study on residential buildings J. Civ. Eng. Manag., 23 (2) (2017), pp. 241 251, 10.3846/13923730.2015.1068846
- 38) Harrington, P. (2012). Machine learning in action. Shelter Island: Manning.
- 39) Hamzeh, F., Zankoul, E., & Rouhana, C. (2015). How can 'tasks made ready' during lookahead planning impact reliable workflow and project duration?. *Construction Management And Economics*, 33(4), 243-258. doi: 10.1080/01446193.2015.1047878
- 40) Hiwale, A., Wagh, A., Waghmare, V., Khairnar, D., Champanerkar, S., & Mane, P. (2018). Effectiveness of 5s implementation in lean construction (commercial building construction project). *International Journal for Research in Applied Science and Engineering Technology*, 6(6), 62-65.
- 41) Hofacker, Alexander & Oliveira, Bruna & Gehbauer, Fritz & Freitas, Maria do Carmo & Mendes Junior, Ricardo & Santos, Aguinaldo & Kirsch, J.. (2008). Rapid Lean Constructionquality Rating model (LCR).
- 42) Hussein, M., & Zayed, T. (2021). Critical factors for successful implementation of just-intime concept in modular integrated construction: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 284, 124716.
- 43) J.E. Diekmann, M. Krewedl, J. Balonick, T. Stewart and S. Won, Application of Lean Manufacturing Principles to Construction. Construction Industry Institute, Boulder, CO (2004) Project report by Project team 191. The University of Texas, Austin <u>http://docplayer.net/23504615-Application-of-lean-manufacturing-principles-toconstruction.html</u>
- 44) Johansen, E. and Walter, L. (2007), "Lean construction: prospects for the German construction industry", Lean Construction Journal, Vol. 3 No. 1, pp. 19-32.
- 45) Jørgensen, B. and Emmitt, S. (2008), "Lost in transition: the transfer of lean manufacturing to construction", Engineering, Construction and Architectural Management, Vol. 15 No. 4, pp. 383-398.
- 46) Kapliński, O. (2008). USEFULNESS AND CREDIBILITY OF SCORING METHODS IN CONSTRUCTION INDUSTRY/TAŠKŲ SKAIČIAVIMO METODŲ NAUDINGUMAS IR PATIKIMUMAS STATYBOS PRAMONĖJE. *JOURNAL OF CIVIL ENGINEERING AND*

MANAGEMENT, 14(1), 21-28. doi: 10.3846/1392-3730.2008.14.21-28

- 47) Kilpatrick, J. (2003). Lean principles. Utah Manufacturing Extension Partnership, 68(1), 1-5.
- 48) Kliment, P. (2015). Global Construction Survey 2015: Climbing the curve. Retrieved from https://home.kpmg/cz/en/home/insights/2015/03/global-construction-survey.html
- 49) Ko, C.H. (2010), "Application of lean production system in the construction industry: an empirical study", Journal of Engineering and Applied Sciences, Vol. 5 No. 2, pp. 71-77.
- 50) L. Koskela Application of the New Production Philosophy to Construction, vol. 72, Stanford university, Stanford, CA (1992) <u>http://www.leanconstruction.org.uk/media/docs/Koskela-TR72.pdf</u>
- 51) Li, S.; Wu, X.; Zhou, Y.; Liu, X. A study on the evaluation of implementation level of lean construction in two Chinese firms. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.2017,71, 846–851.
- 52) Marhani, M. A., Jaapar, A., Bari, N. A. A., & Zawawi, M. (2013). Sustainability through lean construction approach: A literature review. Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences, 101, 90-99.
- 53) Marzouk, M., & Amin, A. (2013). Predicting Construction Materials Prices Using Fuzzy Logic and Neural Networks. Journal of Construction Engineering and Management, 139(9), 1190–1198. <u>https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)CO.1943-7862.0000707</u>
- 54) McGraw Hill Construction, 2013 McGraw Hill Construction LC Leveraging Collaboration and Advanced Practices to Increase Project Efficiency (Smart Market Report) McGraw Hill Construction Research and Analytics, Massachusetts (2013) https://www.leanconstruction.org/media/docs/Lean_Construction_SMR_2013.pdf
- 55) Mitchell, T. M. (1997). *Machine Learning*. New York: McGraw-Hill. ISBN: 978-0-07-042807-2
- 56) Mohan, S.B. and Iyer, S. (2005), "Effectiveness of lean principles in construction", in 13th Annual Conference of the International Group for Lean Construction, Sydney, Australia, 19-21 Jul 2005, pp. 421-429.
- 57) Mohri, Mehryar, Afshin Rostamizadeh, and Ameet Talwalkar. *Foundations of machine learning*. MIT press, 2018.
- 58) Moselhi, Osama, et al. "Neural Networks as Tools in Construction." *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*, vol. 117, no. 4, 1991, pp. 606–625., doi:10.1061/(asce)0733-9364(1991)117:4(606).
- 59) Mossman, A. (2009), "Why isn't the UK construction industry going lean with gusto?", Lean Construction Journal, pp. 13-23.

- 60) Mughees Aslam, Zhili Gao, Gary Smith, Exploring factors for implementing lean construction for rapid initial successes in construction, Journal of Cleaner Production, Volume 277, 2020, 123295, ISSN 0959-6526, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.123295.
- 61) Nani, G., & Apraku, K. (2016). Effects of Reward Systems on Performance of Construction Workers in Ghana. Civil and Environmental Research, 8(7).
- 62) Ogunbiyi, O., Goulding, J. S., & Oladapo, A. (2014). An empirical study of the impact of lean construction techniques on sustainable construction in the UK. *Construction innovation*.
- 63) Paez, O., Salem, S., Solomon, J., & Genaidy, A. (2005). Moving from lean manufacturingto lean construction: Toward a common socio-technological framework. Human Factors and Ergonomics in Manufacturing, 15(2), 233–245.
- 64) Palisade. (2021). NeuralTools.
- 65) Pasquire, Christine & Connolly, G.E. (2002). Leaner construction through off-site manufacturing. 263-266.
- 66) Pasquire, C. and Daniel, E., 2016. The History Of The Development Of The LastPlanner® System. [online] Leanconstructionblog.com. Available at:
 https://leanconstructionblog.com/The-History-of-The-Development-of-the-Last-Planner-System.html> [Accessed 2 November 2020].
- 67) Pheng, L. S., & Shang, G. (2011). The application of the just-in-time philosophy in the Chinese construction industry. Journal of construction in developing countries, 16(1), 91-111.
- 68) Pheng, L. S., & Hui, M. S. (1999). The application of JIT philosophy to construction: a case study in site layout. *Construction Management & Economics*, *17*(5), 657-668.
- 69) Poppendieck, M. (2011). Principles of lean thinking. IT Management Select, 18(2011), 1-7.
- 70) Quinlan, J. R. (1986). Induction of decision trees. Machine learning, 1(1), 81-106.
- 71) R Core Team (2019). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL <u>https://www.R-project.org/</u>.
- 72) Salem, O., Solomon, J., Genaidy, A. and Luegring, M. (2005). Site implementation and assessment of lean construction techniques. Lean Construction Journal, 2, October 2005
- 73) Salem, O., Solomon, J., Genaidy, A., & Minkarah, I. (2006). Lean Construction: From Theory to Implementation. *Journal Of Management In Engineering*, 22(4), 168-175. doi: 10.1061/(asce)0742-597x(2006)22:4(168)
- 74) Sarkar, Ashok & Mukhopadhyay, Arup & Ghosh, Sadhan. (2013). Root cause analysis, Lean Six Sigma and test of hypothesis. The TQM Journal. 25. 10.1108/17542731311299609.
- 75) Sathya, R., & Abraham, A. (2013). Comparison of supervised and unsupervised learning

algorithms for pattern classification. *International Journal of Advanced Research in Artificial Intelligence*, 2(2), 34-38.

- 76) Schneider, A., Hommel, G., & Blettner, M. (2010). Linear regression analysis: part 14 of a series on evaluation of scientific publications. *Deutsches Arzteblatt international*, 107(44), 776–782. https://doi.org/10.3238/arztebl.2010.0776
- 77) Scott, A. (2021). Eighty Percent of Contractors Report Difficulty Finding Qualified Craft Workers to Hire. from https://www.agc.org/news/2019/08/27/eighty-percent-contractorsreport-difficulty-finding-qualified-craft-workers-hire
- 78) Sibi, P., Jones, S. A., & Siddarth, P. (2013). Analysis of different activation functions using back propagation neural networks. *Journal of theoretical and applied information technology*, 47(3), 1264-1268.
- 79) Simonsson, P. and Emborg, M. (2007), "Industrialization in Swedish bridge engineering: a case study of lean construction", in Annual Conference of the International Group for Lean Construction: 18/07/2007-20/07/2007, 2007, MI State University Press, pp. 244-253.
- 80) Sodhi, Harsimran. (2020). A Systematic Comparison between DMAIC and DMADV Approaches of Six Sigma.
- 81) Sterman, J. D. (2010). Does formal system dynamics training improve people's understanding of accumulation?. *System Dynamics Review*, *26*(4), 316-334.
- 82) Tavakol, Mohsen, and Reg Dennick. "Making sense of Cronbach's alpha." *International journal of medical education* vol. 2 53-55. 27 Jun. 2011, doi:10.5116/ijme.4dfb.8dfd
- 83) Tokede, O. (2016). Last Planner System-from theory to implementation. In *ICEC World Congress*. Rio De Janeiro: ICEC World Congress.
- 84) Usama Hamed Issa, Implementation of lean construction techniques for minimizing the risks effect on project construction time, Alexandria Engineering Journal, Volume 52, Issue 4, 2013, Pages 697-704, ISSN 1110-0168, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aej.2013.07.003</u>.
- 85) V.D. More, D.S. Charhate, M. Sinha Lean construction techniques in Indian construction industry: some analysis Int. J. Civ. Eng. Res., 7 (1) (2016), pp. 59-65 <u>https://www.ripublication.com/ijcer16/ijcerv7n1_08.pdf</u>
- 86) Vignesh, C., 2017. A case study of implementing last planner system in Tiruchirappalli District of Tamil Nadu - India. International Journal of Civil Engineering and Technology 8, 1918–1927
- 87) Williams, T. P. (1994). Predicting Changes in Construction Cost Indexes Using Neural Network. Journal of Construction Engineering and Management, 120(2), 306–320. <u>https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)0733-9364(1994)120:2(306)</u>

- 88) Womack, J.P. and Jones, D.T. (1996), "Beyond Toyota: how to root out waste and pursue perfection", Harvard Business Review, Vol. 74 No. 5, p. 140.
- 89) Yang, X., Zhang, L. Y., & Zhang, J. (2004). MANAGEMENT OF CONSTRUCTION SITE SAFETY DURING PROJECTS: THE USE OF "5S" SYSTEM. Construction safety management systems, 196.





Figure 46: Decision tree predicting schedule performance



Figure 47: Decision tree predicting budget performance